
 
Tony Kershaw 

Director of Law and Assurance 
 

If calling please ask for: 
 

Tracey Guinea on 033 022 28679 
Email:  tracey.guinea@westsussex.gov.uk 
 

www.westsussex.gov.uk 
 

 
County Hall  
Chichester 

West Sussex  
PO19 1RQ 

Switchboard  
Tel no (01243) 777100 

 

 

19 March 2021 

 

 

Planning and Rights of Way Committee 

A virtual meeting of the Committee will be held at 10.30 am on Tuesday, 30 

March 2021. 
 
Note: In accordance with regulations in response to the current public health 

emergency, this meeting will be held virtually with members in remote attendance.  
Public access is via webcasting. 

 
The meeting will be available to watch live via the Internet at this 

address: 

 
      http://www.westsussex.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 

 
Tony Kershaw 
Director of Law and Assurance 

 
 

 
 Agenda 

 
10.30 am 1.   Declarations of Interest  

 

  Members and officers must declare any pecuniary or personal 
interest in any business on the agenda. They should also make 

declarations at any stage such an interest becomes apparent 
during the meeting. Consideration should be given to leaving 
the meeting if the nature of the interest warrants it. If in doubt, 

contact Democratic Services before the meeting. 
 

10.35 am 2.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting of the Committee (Pages 
3 - 10) 
 

  The Committee is asked to confirm the minutes of the meeting 
held on 2 March 2021. 

 
10.38 am 3.   Urgent Matters  

 

  Items not on the agenda that the Chairman of the Committee is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency by 

reason of special circumstances. 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.westsussex.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

 
10.40 am 4.   Planning Application: Regulation 3 (Pages 11 - 40) 

 

  Report by Head of Planning Services. 
 

The Committee is asked to consider and determine the following 
application: 
 

WSCC/055/20 – Construction of new two storey Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) College 

building with associated soft and hard landscaping, a 
floodlit all-weather pitch, car parking and drop off/pick 
up facilities and alterations to existing access 

arrangements.  Woodlands Meed College, Birchwood 
Grove Road, Burgess Hill RH15 0DP. 

 
 

 Adjournment for lunch 

 
The Committee will adjourn for lunch for 1 hour. 

 
1.40 pm 5.   Registration of land to become a Town or Village Green 

under Section 15(2) of the Commons Act 2006 (Pages 41 - 
82) 
 

  Report by Director of Law and Assurance. 
 

The Committee is asked to consider and determine the following 
application: 
 

Application to register land known as Rascals Wood Field 
in the parish of Shipley as a Town or Village Green. 
 

2.40 pm 6.   Date of Next Meeting  
 

  The next meeting of the Committee will be held at 10.30 a.m. 
on Tuesday, 8 June 2021. 

 
 
 

 
To all members of the Planning and Rights of Way Committee 

 

Page 2



Planning and Rights of Way Committee 
 

2 March 2021 – At a meeting of the Committee held at Virtual meeting with 
restricted public access. 
 

Present: Cllr High (Chairman) 

 
Cllr Kitchen, Cllr Atkins, Cllr Baldwin, Cllr Barrett-Miles, Cllr Burrett, 
Cllr Goldsmith, Cllr McDonald, Cllr Millson, Cllr Montyn, Cllr S Oakley, Cllr Patel 

and Cllr Sudan 
 

Also in attendance: Cllr Acraman 
 

Part I 

 
7.    Declarations of Interest  

 
7.1 In accordance the County Council’s Constitution: Code of Practice 
on Probity and Protocol on Public Participation in Planning and Rights of 

Way Committees, the following members declared that they have been 
lobbied in relation to Item 4 - planning application WSCC/045/20:  

Cllr Kitchen, Cllr Atkins, Cllr Baldwin, Cllr Barrett-Miles, Cllr Burrett, 
Cllr Goldsmith, Cllr McDonald, Cllr Millson, Cllr Montyn, Cllr S Oakley, 
Cllr Patel and Cllr Sudan. 

 
8.    Minutes of the last meeting of the Committee  

 
8.1 Resolved – That: 

 
(1) updates on outstanding applications and delegated decisions 

for planning and rights of way matters and status reports 

regarding previously decided rights of way applications be 
circulated by email to Committee members monthly; and 

 

(2) the minutes of Planning and Rights of Way Committee held on 
2 February 2021 be amended, as noted in the Agenda Update 

Sheet (copy appended to the signed copy of the minutes) and 
that the minutes be agreed and that they be signed by the 
Chairman. 

 
9.    Urgent Matters  

 

9.1 There were no urgent matters. 
 

10.    Planning Application: Minerals  
 

WSCC/045/20 – Temporary permission for exploration and 
appraisal comprising the removal of drilling fluids and subsequent 
engineering works with an extended well test for hydrocarbons 

along with site security fencing and site restoration.  Lower 
Stumble Exploration Site, London Road, Balcombe RH17 6JH. 

 
10.1 The Committee recessed at 10.47 a.m. to allow all speakers to join 
the meeting and reconvened at 11.00 a.m. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



 

10.2 The Committee considered a report by the Head of Planning 
Services, including changes to conditions as amended by Agenda Update 
Sheet (copy appended to the signed copy of the minutes).  The report was 

introduced by Chris Bartlett, Principal Planner, who gave a presentation on 
the proposals, details of the consultation and key issues in respect of the 

application.  21 further objections were received and considered following 
publication of the Committee report; these had not affected the 
recommendation before the Committee because the concerns raised were 

the same as those already outlined in other objections.  
 

10.3 Mrs Sue Taylor, local resident and representative of Frack Free 
Balcombe Residents Association spoke in objection to the application.  The 
development represents major development in the High Weald Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB).  There are no exceptional 
circumstances and the proposed development would not be in the public 

interest and it is therefore contrary to Policies M7a and M13 of the West 
Sussex Joint Local Minerals Plan and paragraphs 170 and 172 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  The applicant may have a 

PEDL license, but planning and environmental permissions still need to be 
considered.  The potential maximum of 300 barrels of oil per day would 

not contribute to UK energy security.  The UK could meet its oil needs with 
much reduced domestic production and it has access to diverse and 
politically stable oil imports.  It is not true that oil produced in the UK has 

a lower carbon footprint than overseas imports.  Some UK produced oil is 
exported.  The proposed development carries a real risk of economic, 

social and environmental damage to Sussex.  The flare would be on 24 
hours per day during the full year of testing. 

 
10.4 Mrs Rachel Hall, local resident, spoke in objection to the application.  
The number and size of HGVs would have an impact on residents, 

including pupils at the school, users of the scout hut and the church.  The 
location of the school, which is below pavement level, the need for open 

windows due to COVID-19 and position of the play area near the road 
means there are concerns about children’s exposure to pollution.  This 
includes NOx, carbon monoxide and benzene.  Particulate matter stays in 

the body and can cause long term health problems; therefore the proposal 
would be in contrast to NPPF paragraph 205b regarding human health.  

Noise from HGVs also disrupts lessons.  The development stands in 
opposition the school’s teachings on greener lifestyles and general public 
concerns about climate change.  The 2018 flow test caused an acrid, 

creosote/varnish-like smell; this proposal would mean this would be 
repeated for up to a year.  Local people do not want this development.   

 
10.5 Mr Jonathan Millbanks, Chairman of Balcombe Parish Council, spoke 
in objection to the application.  There are no material changes between 

this proposal and the previous WSCC/071/19 application made in 2019 
that had been recommended for refusal before being withdrawn.  The 

proposal represents a major development in an AONB, and should not be 
permitted.  Oil consumption in the UK is declining.  The site would be 
likely to produce less than 0.005% the volume of Wytch Farm, which in 

turn produces less than 1% of the national daily consumption, therefore 
the potential contribution is so small as to be negligible to the overall 

national picture.  Potential local economic benefits have been hugely 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



inflated and are based on untested assumptions.  The need for the 

development has not been correctly assessed.  Significant overweighting 
has been placed by Planning Officers on the site as an area that has 
potential strategic significance.  There has been insufficient articulation of 

any evidence that the site meets the ‘exceptional circumstance’ criteria. 
 

10.6 Mr John Butcher, local resident, spoke in objection to the 
application.  The proposal does not meet the economic, social and 
environmental tests on sustainable development under the NPPF.  

Economic benefits are vastly overstated, including business rate benefits.  
The potential annual income is based on production, which is not relevant 

to this application.  Local economic benefits would likely be only around  
11% of the stated aimed local spend.  Not all spend, including on staffing, 
would be made locally.  The community has been weakened and wearied 

by this site.  Emissions, which contain harmful pollutants, will blow to the 
village on the prevailing wind.  The additional HGVS will also increase air 

pollution.  The NPPF S.17, para 205b states there should be no adverse 
impacts on human health.  The proposal does not contribute to the 
natural, built and historic environment and is detrimental to all.  The tiny 

level of possible oil production would make no impact on foreign imports 
or national energy security.  The climate emergency is an exceptional 

circumstance for refusing the application and requires bold action to tackle 
it including a refusal of this planning application.   
 

10.7 Cllr Gary Marsh, Mid Sussex District Councillor for Ardingly and 
Balcombe and local resident, spoke in objection to the application.  Prior 

planning applications were correctly approved, based on material matters 
and the circumstances at the time of each application, although non-

adherence to conditions has caused distress and distrust.  Before being 
withdrawn, planning application WSCC/071/19 was recommended for 
refusal on the basis of permanent looking structures and it being major 

development in the AONB.  AONBs hold the same status as national parks 
in terms of planning policy.  Why should the change from a proposal for 3 

year to a 1 year extended well test make a difference to the earlier 
recommendation to refuse permission?  This proposal is against current 
government policy and thinking around the move away from use of fossil 

fuels.  The UK is only nine years away from the 2030 deadline to stop 
selling carbon fuelled cars and so the demand for oil will reduce; this is a 

material consideration.  Members were asked to consider if they would 
wish to live near the site throughout its operation. 
 

10.8 Mr George Lucan, Chief Executive, Angus Energy plc, the applicant, 
spoke in support of the application.  Previous exploration and tests 

indicate a potential for commercial hydrocarbon development at this site.  
The proposal is sensitive to its surroundings and is for the shortest time 
possible to allow for technical analysis.  Alternative options have been 

explored but the Balcombe site represents the best environmental option 
from which the target reservoir can be accessed.  The development 

proposal accords with relevant national and local planning policies.  The 
recent Government energy White Paper maintains that there is a need 
case for oil and gas into the future and it states that “the UK’s domestic oil 

and gas industry has a critical role in maintaining the country’s energy 
security and is a major contributor to our economy”.  The development 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



will boost the local economic supply chain and could equate to local 

investment of over £800,000.   
 
10.9 Cllr Bill Acraman, County Councillor for Worth Forest, the local 

member, spoke on the application.  Alok Sharma was quoted on the need 
to tackle climate change being one of the most urgent shared endeavours 

of our lifetime; this should be overriding.  Government policy now looks to 
prevent climate change; oil applications go against that.  The previous 
application WSCC/071/19 implied there was a need for the development 

but the recommendation was for refusal.  The officer recommendation for 
this application states that the development should be permitted “on 

balance”.  Differences between the two applications include the shorter 
duration, which in reality is actually likely to be nearer 2 years.  Stated 
benefits to the local economy are unlikely to be realised, e.g. installation 

of a replacement membrane is a good thing, but it would probably be 
imported.  The amount of oil likely to be produced would have a minimal 

impact in terms of UK oil production, but the local effects of the 
development would be maximum on the local community.  There is strong 
local feeling against the application.  The County Council has an approved 

policy on climate change, and only the types applications that propose 
renewable energy should be supported. 

 
10.10 The Committee debated the proposed planning application, as 
follows. 

 
The Committee made the following points and sought clarification, 

where applicable, in relation to the differences between the previous 
2019 planning application WSCC/071/19 and the proposal under 

consideration in the current application WSCC/045/20: 
 
 The proposal would be considered major development in the 

AONB and it had not been proved that there are any exceptional 

circumstances nor was public interest proved.  Therefore, the 

application is contrary to policies M7a and M13 of the JLMP and 

paragraphs 170 and 172 of the NPPF. 

 The reduced development timescales are not a sufficient reason 

to justify the change in recommendation to approval for this 

application.  It was questioned why the applicant now feels they 

could do the same amount of work in reduced timeframe.  And, 

clarification on the timescales of the proposal were sought.   

 The potential pollution of the site was not raised in the previous 

application WSCC/071/19 and, so installation of a site wide 

impermeable membrane would not be a justification to approve 

this application. 

 There are no new material changes between this application and 

WSCC/071/19.  It was noted that  both the recommendations 

were “on balance”, so clarification was sought on the differences 

and reason for the change in recommendation. 

 References in the committee report regarding paragraph 124 of 

the PPG: Minerals, in relation to the need to take into account 

government energy policy, and the Annual Energy Statement 

2013, as noted in paragraphs 6.31 of the committee report, 

were in existence prior to receipt of the previous planning 

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



application WSCC/071/19.  They were not considered as reasons 

not to refuse that application. 

 
In response to matters raised in relation to the differences between 

the current proposal and planning application WSCC/071/19, 
Planning Officers provided the following responses: 

 
 The timescales and phases for the proposed development are 

shown in the table under paragraph 9.39 on pages 40 and 41 of 

the committee report.  The 12-month period refers only to 

Phase 3 the extended well test.  Timescales for all phases are 

outlined in the table and provide worse case scenarios.  No 

information has been provided by the applicant as to why the 

overall timeframe has reduced from that detailed in the previous 

planning application WSCC/071/19. 

 Paragraph. 3.8 of the committee report details the reasons that 

planning application WSCC/071/19 had been recommended for 

refusal before it was withdrawn.  In relation to the current 

application, additional supporting information and documents 

were provided, as noted in paragraph 4.25 which outlines the 

differences/changes; this information was not available for the 

previous application.  

 The committee report states that the application has the 

“potential” to increase noise and impact on air quality.  It is felt 

that this would certainly occur, in part due to the definite 

increase in HGV movements. 

 
The Committee raised the following points regarding other matters, 

where no reply by Planning and Legal Officers was required: 
 
 The statistics on the benefit to the local economy, provided in 

the Socio-Economic Report, amount to four jobs.  Because they 

are specific to the oil industry they would be unlikely to provide 

employment to local people. 

 The potential benefits to the local economy were overstated at 

£1.7m originally.  It was noted that this had been queried and 

reduced to £815K.  The sums are negligible to the county’s 

gross value added per year.  The claimed “potential” benefits to 

the local economy would be temporary and would be 

insignificant when weighed against the adverse impacts on the 

local community of noise, HGV movements and air pollution. 

 The use of the quote “the UK’s domestic oil and gas industry has 

a critical role in maintaining the country’s energy security and is 

a major contributor to our economy”, taken from the 

government’s White Paper ‘Powering our Net Zero Future’, is 

misleading.  The document makes only a small mention of on-

shore oil reserves compared with mention of off-shore sources.  

The main focus being the transition to renewable energy 

sources.  There is no caution against oil or gas shortages in the 

report.  Since approval of planning application WSCC/040/17/BA 

in January 2018, public opinion and government policy on 

climate change has altered in line with the White Paper, with a 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



commitment to move away from oil production and use of fossil 

fuels.  Climate change trumps all other considerations and there 

would need to be very exceptional circumstances to approve the 

current planning application. 

 It was disappointing that High Weald AONB Unit did not say 

more in their response to the application. 

 Issues around pollutants and air quality are better understood 

than they used to be. 

 The changes to proposed conditions, as outlined in the Agenda 

Update Sheet, were noted.  However, it was suggested for the 

future that matters pertaining to landscaping, the Construction 

Management Plan and hours of work need to be more carefully 

considered in advance. 

 

The Committee sought clarification on the following matters and 
responses were provided by Planning and Legal Officers: 

 
 What is the situation in relation to meeting the needs for 

minerals in some other way? 

Response – Paragraphs 9.26 and 9.27 address matters in 

relation to the need for the development in the current location. 

 When would an Environmental Impact Assessment be required? 

The committee report is not clear as paragraph 5.3 mentions a 

threshold of more than 0.5 hectares in area (Schedule 2, Part 

2(e)) but, paragraph 5.5 states that for Part 2(e) the indicative 

thresholds refer to a development site of 10 hectares or more, or 

where production is expected to be more than 100,000 tonnes of 

petroleum per year. 

Response – The thresholds referred to in the report address 

different legislative requirements.  As the proposed development 

was over 0.5 hectares, a screening assessment was required to 

determine whether an EIA may be necessary.  However, as the 

proposed development was not over 10 hectares or where 

production is expected to be more than 100,000 tonnes of 

petroleum per year, an EIA was not formally required. 

 In reference to toxicity of the hydrocarbons, are the the oil 

reserves at the site ‘sweet’ or ‘sour’?  This level of detail should 

be included in order for the Committee to make an informed 

decision. 

Response – The terms ‘sweet’ or ‘sour’ refer to the level of 

sulphur present in hydrocarbons.  This is not known for this site. 

 To what degree would the site be able to contain a 1 in 100 plus 

30% exceptional rainfall situation?  What are the arrangements 

for removal of excess surface water and regular maintenance?  

How many HGV movements would this involve? 

Response – Calculations have been made on the basis of a 1 in 

100 plus 30% exceptional rainfall event.  Although this had not 

been considered in the Transport Assessment, it would be 

expected that the site operator would do everything necessary to 

remove excess water within the bounds of acceptable HGV 

movements. 

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



 What type of flare is proposed? 

Response - The proposed flare would be enclosed and no flame 

would be visible. 

 What would be the process and outcomes of site restoration?  

Would this include removal of fluids from the well? 

Response – Conditions approved under planning application 

WSCC/040/17/BA state that “prior to the commencement of 

development, a scheme of restoration and aftercare specifying 

the steps to be taken to manage restored land shall be 

submitted for approval”.  This means that details, including the 

removal of fluids, would need to be agreed by Planning Officers 

with the site operator. 

 

10.11 The motion below was proposed by Cllr Patel and seconded by 
Cllr Atkins: 

 
That Planning and Rights of Way Committee refuses the application 

on the following grounds: the proposed development would 
represent major development in the High Weald Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, for which there are no exceptional 

circumstances, and which is not in the public interest.  There are 
alternative sources of hydrocarbon supply, both indigenous and 

imported, to meet the national need, there would be minimal 
benefit to the local economy from the development, and there is 
scope for meeting the need in some other way, outside of nationally 

designated landscapes.  It would therefore be contrary to Policies 
M7a and M13 of the West Sussex Joint Local Minerals Plan (2018) 

and paragraphs 170 and 172 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019). 

 

The proposal was put to the Committee and approved unanimously. 
 

10.12 Resolved – that the Committee refuses planning application 
WSCC/045/20 for the reasons set out in minute 10.10 above. 
 

 
11.    Update on Mineral, Waste and Regulation 3 Planning Applications  

 
The Committee received and noted a report by the Head of Planning 
Services on applications awaiting determination (copy appended to the 

signed minutes) detailing the schedule of County Matter applications and 
the schedule of applications submitted under the Town and Country 

Planning General Regulations 1992 – Regulation 3. 
 

12.    Delegated Action - Planning Applications  

 
The Committee received and noted a report by the Head of Planning 

Services on (copy appended to the signed minutes) applications approved 
subject to conditions under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992 

since the Planning Committee meeting on 2 February 2021. 
 

13.    Current Applications and Actions - Path Orders and Consultations  

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



 

The Committee received and noted a report by the Director of Highways, 
Transport and Planning, Place Services on the schedule of creations and 
permissive path proposals, diversions and extinguishment applications and 

District Council consultations. 
 

14.    Delegated Actions - Path Orders and Consultations  
 

The Committee received and noted a report by the Director of Highways, 

Transport and Planning, Place Services on delegated actions - creations and 
permissive path proposals, diversions and extinguishment applications and 

District Council consultations decided between 17 August 2020 and 
17 February 2021. 
 

15.    Current Applications - Definitive Map Modification Orders and 
Town and Village Green Applications  

 
The Committee received and noted a report by the Director of Law and 
Assurance on the schedule of Definitive Map Modification Orders and Town 

and Village Green applications. 
 

16.    Delegated Actions - Definitive Map Modification Orders and Town 
and Village Green Applications  
 

The Committee received and noted a report by the Director of Law and 
Assurance on delegated actions - Definitive Map Modification Orders and 

Town and Village Green applications decided between 17 August 2020 and 
17 February 2021. 

 
17.    Date of Next Meeting  

 

17.1 The next scheduled meeting of Planning and Rights of Way 
Committee will be on Tuesday, 30 March 2021 at 10.30 a.m. 

 
17.2 In accordance with regulations in response to the current public 
health emergency. This meeting may be held virtually with members in 

remote attendance and with public access via webcasting. 
 

The meeting ended at 1.06 pm 
 
 

 
 

 
 
Chairman 

Page 10

Agenda Item 2



Key decision: Not applicable 
Unrestricted 

 

Planning Committee 

30 March 2021 

Construction of new two storey Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND) College building with associated soft and hard 

landscaping, a floodlit all-weather pitch, car parking and drop 

off/pick up facilities and alterations to existing access arrangements 

Woodlands Meed College, Birchwood Grove Road, Burgess Hill RH15 
0DP 

Application No: WSCC/055/20 

Report by Head of Planning Services 

Local Member: Mrs Anne Jones 

Electoral Division: Burgess Hill East      District: Mid Sussex 

 

Summary 

Planning permission is sought for the construction of a new two-storey Special 

Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) College building at the Woodlands Meed 
College site in Burgess Hill.  Once the new building has been constructed on the 
current playing field, the existing school buildings on the site would be demolished 

and replaced by a floodlit all-weather pitch, car parking and drop off/pick up 
facilities.  Soft and hard landscaping and alterations to existing access 

arrangements are also proposed.  

The report provides a description of the site and details of the proposed 
development, and appraises it against the relevant policy framework. 

No objections have been raised by statutory consultees. 

Seventy third-party representations have been received, the majority of which 

support the proposal.  Key matters raised include the overriding need for the 
college to replace the existing college building which is out-dated and is no longer 
fit for purpose.  Those objecting, raise a number of matters, including an increase 

in noise, dust and light pollution, traffic and highway issues, overlooking and 
reduction in privacy. 

Consideration of Key Issues 

The main material considerations in relation to this application are the: 

 need for the development; 

 design and impact on visual amenity;  

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 impact on highway capacity and road safety; and 

 impact on residential amenity 

Need for the Development 

The Local Education Authority (LEA) has identified the need to provide better and 
more suitable educational facilities at Woodlands Meed College because the current 

building is past its predicted life-span and in poor condition.  National policy gives 
great weight to meeting the needs of students and the proposed development is 
considered to accord with the relevant Development Plan policies in that regard.  It 

is concluded that there is a clear need for the development to meet demand for 
better educational facilities in the local area. 

Design and Visual Amenity 

The limited size of the site, the proximity of surrounding residential development, 
and the need to maintain the existing education facility whilst building works 
proceed, dictate the proposed location of the new building.  The scale and form of 

building, produced in response to the site constraints, is appropriate in its context.  
The proposal would include sustainability features and outdoor sport and learning 

spaces.  Overall, the scale, design and finish of the development is considered to 
be acceptable with regard to impacts on visual amenity.  

Highway Capacity and Road Safety 

Subject to the development and implementation of a School Travel Plan (to be 

secured by condition) and securing construction management details via condition 
prior to development works commencing, the proposed development is not 
considered likely to give rise to any unacceptable impacts upon highway capacity or 

road safety. 

Residential Amenity 

The scale, massing, and location of the built elements of the development will not 

impact unacceptably on the amenity/privacy of the residents.  Provided that 
appropriate conditions are attached to the permission to preclude use beyond 

unreasonable hours and to require submission, approval and monitoring of 
mitigation schemes to reduce potential amenity impacts, the use of the College and 
associated floodlit pitch will not give rise to unacceptable impact on the amenity of 

the occupants of adjoining residential properties. 

Overall Conclusion 

The proposed development relates to an existing educational site within the built-up 

area.  The existing facility is in poor condition and no longer suitable to meet the 
needs of the students.  There would be no increase in student or staff numbers and 
the proposed development would provide the local area with a much needed, 

modern education and community facility to facilitate the delivery of the national 
curriculum and support community development for Special Education Needs.  It 

would be of an appropriate design within the local context, acceptable with regard 
to highway capacity and road safety, and would have no unacceptable impacts on 
residential amenity.  Accordingly, the proposed development accords with national 

policy and the relevant development plan policies.   

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



Recommendation  

It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to the conditions 
and informatives set out in Appendix 1. 

 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Planning permission is sought for the construction of a new two-storey 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) building at the Woodlands 

Meed College campus in Burgess Hill.  Once the new building has been 
constructed on the current playing field, the existing school buildings on the 
site would be demolished and replaced by a floodlit all-weather pitch, car 

parking and drop off/pick up facilities.  Soft and hard landscaping and 
alterations to existing access arrangements are also proposed.   

2 Site and Description 

2.1 The application site comprises 1.4 hectares (ha) of school land located in a 
residential setting of Burgess Hill, West Sussex (see Appendix 2 – Site 

Location Plan).  Birchwood Primary School is located adjacent to the 
south-east side of the existing Woodlands Meeds College, with both being 
accessed from the north via a shared driveway from Birchwood Grove Road.  

2.1 The College site can be broadly described as in three parts (see Appendix 3 
– Existing Site Plan): 

i) the car park, which is adjacent to Birchwood Grove Road and at a 
higher level; 

ii) the central section, which accommodates the current College building; 

and 

iii) the school playing field. 

2.2 The current car park is a formally laid out area with 30 spaces and a more 
informally arranged area that serves as overflow and accommodates the 
College’s mini buses. 

2.3 The central section of the college site contains the main building and a series 
of temporary portakabin-type buildings.  The main building includes 

classrooms, offices and administration, the hall, kitchen, common room, and 
some specialist areas.  The temporary buildings also accommodate 
specialist classroom spaces and a stand-alone hygiene room.  This central 

section is not all on the same level with a series of ramps and stairs to link 
spaces.  There are also some external learning and play spaces around the 

buildings.  The current drop-off/pick-up area is also within this area. 

2.4 The school playing field area is located to the south-west of the main 
building and contains a Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA) and a poly-tunnel for 

horticultural use.  The playing field is on a significant slope, sloping from 
north to south with a gradient of 1:13.  The gradient makes it incompatible 

for formal sports with the result that pupils currently have to go off-site for 
sports/PE lessons. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



2.5 The playing field, where the new building is proposed, has residential 
properties to the north, west and south, which are a mix of two-storey 

properties and bungalows.  The playing field comprises a two-metre high 
close-boarded fence, with a similar height weld-mesh fence separating the 
site and adjacent Birchwood Primary School.  In addition to the close-

boarded fencing, mature bushes and trees also surround the playing field.  
The car parking area is separated from Birchwood Grove Road by a thick 

hedgerow, approximately two-metres high.  The topography of the site 
generally slopes down from the north of the site to the southern boundary.   

2.6 A Bridleway (No. 14BH) runs along Birchwood Grove Road, the access road 

that serves the College and the Primary School.   

2.7 The site is not within an area subject to any ecological, landscape or other 

constraints, nor in a Groundwater Source Protection Zone.  However, there 
is a Conservation Area to the north-west of the application site, on the 

opposite side of Birchwood Grove Road. 

2.8 The school day for pupils starts at 08:45 and finishes as 15:45 Monday to 
Thursday and 13:50 on Friday.  Staff currently arrive between 07:30 and 

08:00, finishing at 16:00 (17:00 on Tuesdays).  The hours are not expected 
to change after the proposed redevelopment. 

3 Relevant Planning History 

3.1 Since 2005, the only planning permissions approved at the College have been 
for the renewal of temporary classrooms, and some replacement cladding 
and fencing approved in 2012.  The adjacent Birchwood Primary School was 

approved in 2008 as a replacement school.   

4 The Proposal 

4.1 The application seeks to redevelop Woodlands Meed College, a Special 

Educational Needs (SEN) College catering for up to 100 children and young 
adults aged 14–19 years.    

4.2 The proposal involves the construction of a new purpose-built teaching 
facility, with the existing Woodlands Meed College building remaining in use 
until the new building’s completion (see Appendix 4 – Landscape 

Masterplan).  Following the completion of the new building, the current 
Woodlands Meed College building would be demolished.  A new all-weather 

pitch and car park would then be constructed, and the site landscaped.  

4.3 The new College building would include 12 general classrooms, science, food-
tech and design and technology rooms, a hydrotherapy pool, sports hall, 

changing facilities, a dining area, kitchen, staff room, conference and office 
space and toilet facilities.  Externally, the design includes a trim trail, an 

outdoor gym area, a wild garden, a central courtyard and amphitheatre area 
and a sensory nature trail.  A new MUGA would be located at the southern 
end of the site, with a floodlit, all-weather pitch sited centrally.  The sports 

areas, and the sports hall, are proposed for use outside college hours. 

4.4 The College will continue to provide 100 pupil places, managed by up to 50 

members of staff, although the levels of staff at the College will vary on a 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



day-to-day basis. 

4.5 The main entrance point and car park are to remain at the existing locations.  

An improved car parking layout would be provided with 30 dedicated staff 
parking spaces, as well as six designated spaces for the parking of college-
owned minibuses.  In addition, it is proposed that there would be a drop 

off/visitor car park with 14 car parking bays and six minibus drop off bays. 

4.6 It is intended that the new Woodlands Meed College building would be fully 

occupational by May 2023. 

4.7 The site layout has been designed with accessibility at its core.  An extensive 
cut-and-fill of the site would be undertaken to create access routes for all 

users.  No ramps or steep gradients are proposed across the site, and all 
areas would be accessible to non-ambulant students.  The raised roof terrace 

the north-west of the site would be accessible by stepped access from the 
courtyard or by using internal lifts.  There would be a terrace that would 

make use of the site’s topography by linking the upper level of the school to 
the retained higher ground along the western edge. 

4.8 The existing levels to the southern and western edges of the playing field 

would be retained, so as not to disturb the existing mature trees along the 
boundary. 

4.9 The building would be modern in design with external materials chosen to be 
robust and ensure low maintenance.  The external appearance of the 
building would use brickwork and concrete panels with aluminium louvres, 

windows and doors frames, and aluminium slats surrounding the roof terrace 
areas (see Appendix 5 – Elevations).  

4.10 Although five trees and shrubbery would be removed from the site to 
accommodate the development, this loss would be mitigated by new tree 
planting to screen the site.   

5 Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) 

5.1 The need for EIA has been considered in accordance with the Town & Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (‘the EIA 

Regulations’).  
 

5.2 The development does not fall within either Schedule 1 or 2 of the EIA 

Regulations and is not considered likely to have the potential for significant 
environmental effects within the meaning of the Regulations.  Therefore, an 

EIA is not required. 
 

6 Policy  

Statutory Development Plan 

6.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

that applications are determined in accordance with the statutory 
‘development plan’ unless material considerations indicate otherwise (as 

confirmed in paragraph 47 of the National Planning Policy Framework - 
NPPF).  For the purposes of the application, the following documents form 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



the statutory development plan: the Mid Sussex District Plan (2014–2031); 
and the Burgess Hill Neighbourhood (2015-2029). 

6.2 The key policies in the development plan, which are material to the 
determination of the application, are summarised below.  In addition, 
reference is made to relevant emerging policy and guidance, national 

planning policy and supplementary planning documents which guides the 
decision-making process and is material to the determination of the 

application. 

Mid Sussex District Plan (2014–2031)  

6.3 The key policies in Local Plan are summarised below: 

 DP1 – Sustainable Economic Development; 

 DP6 – Settlement Hierarchy; 

 DP21 – Transport; 

 DP25 – Community Facilities and Local Services; 

 DP26 – Character and Design; 

 DP29 – Noise, Air and Light Pollution; 

 DP37 – Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows; 

 DP38 – Biodiversity; and 

 DP41 – Flood Risk and Drainage. 

Burgess Hill Neighbourhood Plan (2014-2029) 

6.4 The key policies in Local Plan are summarised below: 

 Policy S3 – Protect and enhance existing community facilities and 

medical/health facilities; and 

 Policy LR3 – Protect and improve existing leisure facilities. 

National Planning Policy Framework (2019) 

6.5 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government’s 
planning polices for England and how these are expected to be applied.  The 

NPPF does not form part of the development plan but is a material 
consideration in determining planning applications.  It also helps to guide 

decision-makers as to what matters are material to the decision-making 
process. 

6.6 Paragraph 8 sets out the three key roles of the planning system; economic, 

social and environmental.  The supporting text highlights the importance of 
providing infrastructure to support growth. 

6.7 The paragraphs of the NPPF of key relevance to this application are: 8 (roles 
of the planning system), 11 (presumption in favour of sustainable 
development), 47 (determining applications in accordance with the 

development plan), 91-95 (promoting healthy and safe communities), 102 
(consideration of transport issues), 108-111 (impact on the road safety or 

the road network), 127-132 (achieving well-designed places in decision 

Page 16

Agenda Item 4



making), 163 (ensuring flood risk is not increased elsewhere), 175 
(protection and enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity), 178 (avoiding 

pollution and contamination), and 180 (minimising impacts of noise).  

Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) Policy 
Statement – Planning for schools development (2011) 

6.8 This sets out national planning policy on schools does not form part of the 
development plan. It is intended to help guide decision-makers and should be 

read alongside the NPPF.  In general terms, it seeks to allow schools to expand, 
adapt and improve their facilities.  It states that “Local authorities should give 
full weight and thorough consideration to the importance of enabling the 

development of state-funded school in their planning decisions” and that “Local 
authorities should make full use of their planning powers to support state-

funded schools applications.”  

7 Consultations 

7.1 Mid Sussex District Council (inc. Environmental Protection): Have no 

objection to the proposal subject to a condition on external lighting 
specifying lux levels and hours of use.  They also recommend that conditions 
be used to secure details of suitable materials, a hard and soft landscaping 

scheme, drainage and sustainable construction and suggest that 
consideration should be given including a condition that would allow the all-

weather pitch to be available to the wider community beyond just the school. 

7.2 Burgess Hill Town Council: Recommend approval of the application, raise 
concerns over the construction access to the site and state that they would 

like to see a traffic management plan in place and a renewable energy 
scheme for the new building 

7.3 Sport England: Raise no objection subject to conditions protecting the 
sports areas for exclusive sports use and the submission and approval of a 
Community Use Agreement. 

7.4 WSCC Archaeology: Have no objection and advise that no additional 
archaeological mitigation required. 

7.5 WSCC Ecology: Have no objection.  

7.6 WSCC Flooding and Drainage: No objection subject to a drainage strategy 
for surface water 

7.7 WSCC Highways: Have no objection.  They recommend conditions 
requiring the submission and approval of a Construction Management Plan 

prior to the commencement of the development and the preparation, 
submission and approval of School Travel Plan prior to the occupation of the 

new building. 

7.8 WSCC Public Rights of Way:  Have no objection.  They advise if any 
damage is done to the surface of Bridleway (No. 14BH) as part of the 

proposed development, that it must be reinstated to the same or better 
standard than before and that if access is required over the public bridleway 

to access the site then suitable signs should be erected to warn both path 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



users and anyone accessing the site of the potential conflict and that any 
private access onto the site must give way to lawful path users. 
 

7.9 WSCC Tree Officer: Has no objection subject to suitably worded conditions 
being included requiring compliance with the submitted tree protection plan 

and the submission for approval of an arboricultural method statement, 
detailed landscaping specification and a long-term maintenance plan. 

7.10 Local Member: No comments received 

8 Representations 

8.1 The application was publicised in accordance with The Town and Country 

Planning (General Development Procedure) (England) Order 2015.  Nine site 
notices were erected at and around the application site, an advertisement was 

placed in the local newspaper and the neighbour notification letters were sent 
out to properties adjacent to the school boundary.  In response, 70 
representations have been received, 57 of which support the proposal, 11 of 

which object and 2 commenting on the development. 

8.2 The main issues raised in support, include that: 

 The existing building is not fit for purpose and does not support the 
needs of the students; 

 Students deserve excellent facilities; 

 The development is desperately needed; 

 Specialist schools are important to support students wellbeing and 

education; 

 New facilities are needed to support students learning and independence 
in adulthood; 

 The new building is required as some previous students have had to 
leave because they were unable to access the college; and that 

 The plans are well thought out, maximising the space 

8.3 The main issues raised in objections include: 

 The close proximately to new school and floodlit pitch; 

 That is will result in a reduction in privacy; 

 That the construction period will result in unacceptable noise, pollution 

and dust to local residents; 

 Overlooking from roof terrace; 

 Increased noise and light pollution from development; 

 That the level of traffic would be dangerous and that construction access 
should not be via Birchwood Grove; 

 The adverse impact upon ecology; 

 The potential impact from flooding; 

 That the proposed retaining wall would impact on tree roots; 

 That there will be no room to expand the school in future; 

Page 18

Agenda Item 4



 Odour from the new pool; and  

 That there will be a negative impact on property values.  

9  Consideration of Key Issues 

9.1 The main material considerations in relation to this application are the:  

 need for the development; 

 design and impact on visual amenity;  

 impact on highway capacity and road safety; and 

 impact on residential amenity 

Need for the Development 

9.3 Paragraph 94 of the NPPF states that “it is important that a sufficient choice 
of school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new 

communities” and that “local planning authorities should take a proactive, 
positive and collaborative approach to meeting this requirement” and “give 
great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools”.  Furthermore, 

the DCLG Policy Statement – Planning for schools development (2011) directs 
local authorities to “give full weight and thorough consideration to the 

importance of enabling the development of state-funded school in their 
planning decisions”. 

9.4 The ‘West Sussex: Planning School Places’ document sets out how the County 

Council is planning sufficient school places across the County.  Woodlands 
Meed College, which caters for approximately 100 students, is the only 

Special Educational Needs (SEN) school that serves the Mid Sussex District 
Council area for pupils aged 14-19.   

9.5 The existing College building is past its predicted life-span and in poor 

condition.  There is a clear need to provide improved student 
accommodation and facilities as identified in the Design and Access 

Statement submitted with the application, which highlights the following 
issues:  

 the 40 year old modular buildings are not fit for purpose and have been 
deemed not suitable for refurbishment; 

 the existing units have a limited life span with significant condition issues 

in relation to roofs and mechanical and electrical services; 

 the structure of the existing building is weak, which means that hoists for 

the children with complex physical needs cannot be fitted.  This has 
resulted in a lack of ceiling-tracking and hoisting equipment in classrooms 
and hygiene rooms resulting in significant moving and handling issues; 

 narrow circulation areas are unsuitable for wheelchair users; 

 poor access for wheelchairs; 

 a lack of storage for walking support equipment and chairs potentially 
causing trip hazards and other health and safety related risks; 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



 inadequate space available for Occupational Therapist (OT) based 
programmes which impacts on the ability to deliver any OT requirements 

detailed as part of student’s Education Health Care Plans (EHCP); 

 rebound therapy cannot be completed on-site due to a lack of space 
suitable for trampolines; 

 no hydrotherapy pool on site.  As a result, students have to be 
transported off-site to Chanctonbury Lane, Burgess Hill, resulting in the 

time in the pool being limited.  This impacts on the operation of the 
College as well as reducing teaching and support staff being available; 

 not all classrooms have level external access through fire doors; 

 many of the external circulation routes are uneven and unusable for 
wheelchairs; 

 the existing MUGA is breaking up and in need of urgent replacement; 

 the existing hall size is unsuitable for the delivery of the secondary school 

PE curriculum and does not comply with Department for Education (DfE) 
requirements; 

 GCSE specialist subjects like design technology, science, food technology 

and art cannot be delivered on-site as there is no dedicated specialist 
practical teaching space.  Ofsted have also raised this as a concern 

because the full curriculum is not available to pupils; 

 the College have converted a classroom to provide a dedicated music 
room but the acoustic environment is unsuitable; 

 no dedicated performance space for teaching performing arts, e.g. drama;  

 a lack of group spaces, sensory rooms, therapy spaces, and life skills 

kitchen; 

 a lack of quiet/calming spaces creating risks for staff and a significant 
increase in incidents logged by the Headteacher; 

 the current space for physiotherapy is too small limiting floor 
physiotherapy;  

 existing classrooms are too small and wheelchair users are restricted to 
certain rooms; 

 external doors are not wide enough and do not have push button 

operation, limiting independent travel; and  

 the current modular units have no emergency accessible escape routes 

increasing the risk of injury should an evacuation be necessary.  

9.6 The Local Education Authority (LEA) has identified the need to provide better 
and more suitable educational facilities at Woodlands Meed College because 

the current building is past its predicted life-span and in poor condition.  
National policy gives great weight to meeting the needs of students and the 

proposed development is considered to accord with the relevant Development 
Plan policies in that regard.  It is concluded that there is a clear need for the 
development to meet demand for better educational facilities in the local 

area. 

Page 20

Agenda Item 4



Design and Impact on Visual Amenity 

9.7 The main element of the proposed development is the new two-storey 
building.  The building, which would be located in the western part of the 

site, is flat roofed with some green roof design elements, and is, in the most 
part, rectangular in design, with a central courtyard area between the 

northern and southern elements of the building.  The northern elevation 
measures approximately 41m in length is 7.9m tall at its highest point.  
However, due to the extensive cutting into the ground at this point, the 

building would only appear to be approximately 5m in height from the 
perspective of the residential properties to the north.  The building is sited 

approximately 7m from adjacent residential boundaries, meaning the 
properties themselves are approximately 18-19m away.  There are no 
windows on the northern elevation, but there is a rooftop terrace area, with 

vegetable growing beds and a poly-tunnel of the northern part of this area.  
This element has aluminum slats on the northern elevation. 

9.8 As described above, due to the sloping topography, there is extensive cutting 
into the ground meaning that the western elevation also appears single-
storey from the properties of Ryeland Road, with a height of approximately 

4.5m.  Again, the western-most elevation (which is closest to the boundary) 
does not have any windows, only two doors.  

9.9 The southern elevation looks over the MUGA (enclosed by 3m weld-mesh 
fencing) and a small grassed playing area with the eastern elevation facing 
the Primary School and the all-weather pitch. 

9.10 Other works associated with the proposal include the provision of additional 
car parking spaces and the provision of additional bike storage.  The design 

also includes a new floodlit all-weather sports pitch located centrally, 
enclosed by 3m weld-mesh fencing.  It is proposed to install six flood-lights, 
which are 8m in height. 

9.11 The development would also include new hard and soft landscaped areas.  
The sports-based and passive outdoor spaces are rationally organised around 

the site meeting space standards for Schools and Colleges for children and 
young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND). 

9.12 The boundaries of the College are currently defined by a variety of fence 

types, hedges, and mature trees.  A small number of trees would need to be 
removed to the enable better use of the car-parking area and to 

accommodate the building.  A condition can be attached to the consent 
requiring trees and hedges not directly affected to be retained and protected 

during construction.    

9.13 The building is considered to be contemporary and well designed and of an 
acceptable appearance.  To create visual interest and break-up the building 

facade, brickwork and concrete panels would be used along with aluminum 
slats.  The windows and doors would be typical of school sites, using 

powder-coated aluminum framing.  However, as no detailed bricks or colour 
palette have been given, details of these would need to be reserved by 
condition. 

9.14 In conclusion, the limited size of the site, the proximity of surrounding 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4



residential development, and the need to maintain the existing education 
facility whilst building works proceed, dictate the proposed location of the 

new building.  The scale and form of building, produced in response to the 
site constraints, is appropriate in its context.  The proposal would include 
sustainability features and outdoor sport and learning spaces.  Overall, the 

scale, design and finish of the development is considered to be acceptable 
with regard to impacts on visual amenity. 

Highways Capacity and Road Safety 

9.15 The site is set in the context of a network of residential streets with the 
access from Birchwood Grove Road.  The proposed development would not 

increase the number of students at the College, which would remain at 100.  
In common with most other educational sites, the surrounding residential 
streets experience varying degrees of congestion during peak pick-up and 

set-down times. 

9.16 The Highways Authority raises no objection to the proposed development and 

are content that the development would not result in an unacceptable impact.   

9.17 In conclusion, subject to the development and implementation of a School 
Travel Plan (to be secured by condition) and securing construction 

management details via condition prior to development works commencing, 
the proposed development is not considered likely to give rise to any 

unacceptable impacts upon highway capacity or road safety. 

Impact on Residential Amenity 

9.18 To continue the provision of education to students, it is clear that the 
available locations to site a new building on the campus are limited.  

However, it is considered that the development has been designed well, 
taking opportunities to minimise impacts upon the surrounding residential 

properties.   

9.19 The proposed two-storey building would be sited approximately 7m from 

adjacent boundaries and 18-19m to residential facades to the north.  On the 
western boundary, the building would be approximately 4.5m from residential 
gardens and approximately 17m from residential facades.  The elevations 

would appear single-storey in height at these locations, and no windows are 
proposed.  Existing planting on the adjacent residential boundaries, and 

substantially so on the western boundary, would be protected during the 
development. 

9.20 Overall, in the context of an established school, and taking the design and 

separation of the building from neighbouring properties into account, it is 
considered that the potential impacts upon amenity from overlooking, loss of 

daylight or intrusion, would be minimal.  It is also considered that 
construction-related activities would be typical of a development of this kind 
and unlikely to result in any unacceptable impact on amenity given their 

temporary nature. 

9.21 The addition of a new all-weather sports pitch, MUGA, sports hall and 

hydrotherapy pool and could have an adverse impact upon local amenity, 
particularly the community use element of the proposal resulting in use of the 

Page 22

Agenda Item 4



pitch and other sports facilities outside core College hours.  This would result 
in increased levels of activity on the site with the potential to cause adverse 

impact on the amenity of adjoining residents by way of noise and light 
impacts.  Being flood-lit, the largest impact could arise from use of the all-
weather pitch.  The degree of impact and the proposed mitigation are 

considered below. 

9.22 Light Impacts: The all-weather pitch would involve the installation of six 8m 

light columns to enable all year-round use.  The submitted lighting strategy 
highlights lighting contours from the floodlights but does not indicate LUX 
levels, something that the District Council recommended to be controlled.    

9.23 The playing surface of the all-weather pitch would be located approximately 
40m from the back elevations of residential properties in Birchwood Grove 

Road.  In order to ensure no unacceptable impact on residential amenity, the 
lighting would provide zero upward light and would be concentrated on the 

pitch.  The directional lighting would be positioned to ensure the maximum 
lighting on the surface of the pitch while minimising light spill beyond the 
pitch playing surface.  The proposed lighting would, as far as practicable, 

overcome any adverse impacts associated with lighting.  In addition, a 
condition requesting LUX levels of the lighting would be reserved by condition 

for submission and approval prior to use of the all-weather pitch. 

9.24 Subject to the above mitigation, it is not envisaged that the proposed floodlit 
pitch would have an unacceptable impact on the amenity of the adjoining 

residential occupants.   

9.25 Noise: The floodlit playing surface would be 40m from the nearest residential 

properties in Birchwood Grove School.  The level and character of noise 
associated with sporting activity, whether for training or competition, has the 
potential for adverse amenity impacts, due to shouting, whistles, and balls 

hitting perimeter fencing.   

9.26 In order to ensure that the use of the all-weather pitch and other sporting 

facilities (including activity in the car park as people leave the premises) 
would not have a significant adverse impact on the amenity of the local 
residents, it is recommended that use of the all-weather pitch and other 

sporting facilities be limited to the hours of 8.00 to 21.00 on Mondays to 
Fridays; 10.00 to 18.00 on Saturdays and 10.00 to 16.00 on Sundays and 

Bank Holidays.  This is in line with similar other sporting installations at 
schools in West Sussex. 

9.27 In conclusion, the scale, massing, and location of the built elements of the 

development would not impact unacceptably on the amenity/privacy of the 
residents.  Provided that appropriate conditions are attached to the 

permission to preclude use beyond unreasonable hours and to require 
submission, approval and monitoring of mitigation schemes to reduce 
potential amenity impacts, the use of the College and associated floodlit pitch 

would not give rise to unacceptable impacts on the amenity of the occupants 
of adjoining residential properties. 

Other material considerations 

9.28 No objection has been raised by WSCC Arboriculturist.  Although there are 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4



some concerns regarding tree protection measures and full, detailed 
landscape specifications, they were content that such matters could be dealt 

with through appropriate conditions.  These have been recommended and 
included. 

9.29 WSCC Drainage Officers also raise no objection to the proposal.  Although no 

drainage strategy has been provided, they state that ‘in view of the relatively 
low flood risk set out in the Flood Risk Assessment’, the drainage strategy 

can be dealt with through a pre-commencement condition. 

9.30 Subject to such conditions ensuring appropriate tree protection measures 
during construction, the implementation of appropriate landscaping and a 

drainage strategy, it is not considered that the proposed development would 
give rise to any unacceptable impacts upon the local landscape and the water 

environment. 

10 Overall Conclusion and Recommendation 

10.1 The proposed development relates to an existing educational site within the 

built-up area.  The existing facility is in poor condition and no longer suitable 
to meet the needs of the students.  There would be no increase in student or 
staff numbers and the proposed development would provide the local area 

with a much needed, modern education and community facility to facilitate 
the delivery of the national curriculum and support community development 

for Special Education Needs.  It would be of an appropriate design within the 
local context, acceptable with regard to highway capacity and road safety, 
and would have no unacceptable impacts on residential amenity.  

Accordingly, the proposed development accords with national policy and the 
relevant development plan policies.   

10.2 It is recommended, therefore, that planning permission be granted subject 
to the conditions and informatives set out in Appendix 1. 

Factors taken into account 

11 Consultations 

11.1 See Sections 7 and 8. 

12 Resource implications and value for money 

12.1 Not applicable. 

13 Equality and Human Rights Assessment  

13.1 The County Council has a duty to have regard to the impact of any proposal 
on those people with characteristics protected by the Equality Act.  Officers 
considered the information provided by the applicant, together with the 

responses from consultees and other parties, and determined that the 
proposal would have no material impact on individuals or identifiable groups 

with protected characteristics.  Accordingly, no changes to the proposal were 
required to make it acceptable in this regard. 

13.2 The Human Rights Act requires the County Council to take into account the 

Page 24

Agenda Item 4



rights of the public under the European Convention on Human Rights and 
prevents the County Council from acting in a manner which is incompatible 

with those rights.  Article 8 of the Convention provides that there shall be 
respect for an individual’s private life and home save for that interference 
which is in accordance with the law and necessary in a democratic society in 

the interests of (inter alia) public safety and the economic wellbeing of the 
country.  Article 1 of protocol 1 provides that an individual’s peaceful 

enjoyment of their property shall not be interfered with save as is necessary 
in the public interest. 

13.3 For an interference with these rights to be justifiable the interference (and the 

means employed) needs to be proportionate to the aims sought to be 
realised.  The main body of this report identifies the extent to which there is 

any identifiable interference with these rights.  The Planning Considerations 
identified are also relevant in deciding whether any interference is 

proportionate.  Case law has been decided which indicates that certain 
development does interfere with an individual’s rights under Human Rights 
legislation.  This application has been considered in the light of statute and 

case law and the interference is not considered to be disproportionate. 

13.4 The Committee should also be aware of Article 6, the focus of which (for the 

purpose of this committee) is the determination of an individual’s civil rights 
and obligations.  Article 6 provides that in the determination of these rights, 
an individual is entitled to a fair and public hearing within a reasonable time 

by an independent and impartial tribunal.  Article 6 has been subject to a 
great deal of case law.  It has been decided that for planning matters the 

decision-making process as a whole, which includes the right of review by the 
High Court, complied with Article 6. 

14. Risk Management Implications 

14.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides 
that the determination of planning applications must be made in accordance 

with the policies of the development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.  If this is not done, any decision could be susceptible to 
an application for Judicial Review. 

15. Crime and Disorder Reduction Assessment 

15.1 There are no implications. 

16. Social Value and Sustainability Assessment 

16.1 Not applicable. 

Michael Elkington 

Head of Planning Services 

Contact Officer: Chris Bartlett, Principal Planner, 0330 222 6946 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Conditions 

Page 25

Agenda Item 4



Appendix 2 – Site Location Plan 

Appendix 3 – Existing Site 

Appendix 4 – Landscape Masterplan 

Appendix 5 – Elevations 

Background papers 

See Section 6. 

  

Page 26

Agenda Item 4



Appendix 1: Conditions and Informatives 

GENERAL CONDITIONS 

Commencement 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 

Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 

Approved Plans 

2. The development shall not take place other than in accordance with the 
approved plans: 

 Site Location Plan - (dwg. 1191-HAV-ZZ-XX-DR-A 1007 P.1); 

 Proposed Site Plan (Block Plan) – (dwg. 1191-HAV-ZZ-XX-DR-A 1000 
P.1); 

 Demolition Site Plan – (dwg. 1191-HAV-ZZ-XX-DR-A 1008 P.1); 

 Elevations – (dwg. 1191-HAV-ZZ-XX-DR-A 2003 P.9); 

 GA Sections – (dwg. 1191-HAV-ZZ-XX-DR-A 2013 P.9); 

 GA Ground Floor Plan (Level 00) – (dwg. 1191-HAV-ZZ-XX-DR-A 1001 
P.9); 

 GA First Floor Plan (Level 01) – (dwg. 1191-HAV-ZZ-XX-DR-A 1002 
P.9); 

 GA Roof Plan (Level 02) – (dwg. 1191-HAV-ZZ-XX-DR-A 1003 P.9); 

 Landscape Masterplan Stage 3 - (dwg 5190243-ATK-XX-XX-DR-L-1000 
Rev P04); 

 Landscape Cross Sections Stage 3 - (dwg 5190243-ATK-XX-XX-DR-L-
2000 Rev P01); 

 Levels Strategy Stage 3 - (dwg 5190243-ATK-XX-XX-DR-L-1010 Rev 
P01); 

 Proposed External Lighting Strategy (dwg. HBS-00-00-DR-E-6302 – 

REV P0.02); and  

 Proposed External Lighting Strategy with Isolux contours (dwg. HBS-

00-00-DR-E-6303 – REV P0.02); 

and supporting information, save as varied by the conditions hereafter. 

Reason: to secure a satisfactory development.  

PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF DEVELOPMENT 

Construction Management Plan  

3. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 
Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the County Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the approved Plan 

Page 27

Agenda Item 4



shall be implemented and adhered to throughout the entire construction 
period. The Plan shall provide details as appropriate but not necessarily be 

restricted to the following matters, 

1. the anticipated number, frequency and types of vehicles used during 
construction,  

2. the method of access and routing of vehicles during construction,  

3. the parking of vehicles by site operatives and visitors,  

4. the loading and unloading of plant, materials and waste,  

5. the storage of plant and materials used in construction of the 
development,  

6. the erection and maintenance of security hoarding,  

7. the provision of wheel washing facilities and other works required to 

mitigate the impact of construction upon the public highway (including 
the provision of temporary Traffic Regulation Orders),  

8. details of public engagement both prior to and during construction 
works.  

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the amenities of the area. 

Drainage Strategy 

4. No works shall commence on site until a Drainage Strategy in support of the 
proposed development has been reviewed and approved in writing by the 

County Planning Authority.  The strategy should accord with the LLFA Policy 
for the Management of Surface Water  

Reason: To ensure that the development does not result in an increase in 

flooding off site. 

Tree Protection  

5.  No development shall take place until an Arboricultural Method Statement in 

accordance with BS5837:2012 (Trees in relation to design, demolition and 
construction – recommendations) has been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the County Planning Authority.  The Arboricultural Method 
Statement shall identify and detail all trees/hedgerows/groups to be retained 
and the measures to ensure their retention and protection in accordance with 

BS5837:2012, including full details of root protection areas, tree works, 
protective fencing, location of services/utilities/drainage, scaffolding and 

ground protection within tree protection zones, construction within the RPAs 
or that may impact on retained trees, details of site access, temporary 
parking, onsite welfare facilities, loading, unloading and storage of 

equipment, materials, fuels and waste as well as concrete mixing and use of 
fires.  Thereafter the approved Arboricultural Method Statement shall be 

implemented in full. 

Reason: To protect existing trees and shrubs in the interests of the visual 
amenity and landscape of the locality. 

 

Page 28

Agenda Item 4



PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF BUILDING WORKS 

Schedule of Materials and Finishes 

6. No development other than groundworks shall be carried out until a schedule 
of materials and finishes and, where so required by the County Planning 

Authority, samples of such materials and finishes to be used for external 
walls, roofs, fencing and surfacing materials (including paths, hard play 

areas/courts, car park and access roads) of the proposed development have 
been submitted to the County Planning Authority for approval.  Following 
approval in wiriting, the materials schedule shall be adhered to in full.   

Reason: In the interests of local amenity and to ensure a development of visual 
quality 

PRIOR TO OCCUPATION/USE OF SITE 

Community Use Agreement 

7. Use of the development shall not commence until a Community Use 

Agreement, prepared in consultation with Sport England, has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority, and a copy of 

the completed approved agreement has been provided to the County 
Planning Authority.  The agreement shall apply to the All Weather Pitch, 
MUGA, sports hall and hydrotherapy pool and associated change and WC 

facilities; and include details of, but not limited to, pricing policy, hours of 
use, access by non-school users, management responsibilities and a 

mechanism for review. The development shall not be used otherwise than in 
strict compliance with the approved agreement. 

Reason: To secure well managed safe community access to the sports 

facility/facilities, to ensure sufficient benefit to the development of sport and 
to accord with Development Plan Policy 

School Travel Plan 

8. No part of the new development shall be first occupied until a Travel Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority.  

The Travel Plan once approved shall thereafter be implemented as specified 
within the approved document.  The Travel Plan shall be completed in 
accordance with the latest guidance and good practice documentation as 

published by the Department for Transport or as advised by the Highway 
Authority. 

Reason: To encourage and promote sustainable transport. 

Landscaping Scheme  

9. No part of the development shall be first occupied until a detailed hard and 

soft landscaping scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the County Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include but not be limited 
to details of species, planting sizes, numbers, spacing, planting rate and 

densities, typical layout matrices if appropriate, plant protection, tree pit 
design, soil amelioration / improvement, biosecurity, on-going maintenance 

provision and the finish of all new hard surfacing, referring to all relevant and 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4



current British Standards.  Once approved the scheme shall be implemented 
in full with all planting carried out in the first planting season (November to 

February) following the commencement of the development.  Any plants or 
turf or seeding which die, fail to establish, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased within the first five years shall be replaced in the next 

planting season with others of a similar size and species. 

Reason: To safeguard and enhance the amenity and character of the area, to 

provide ecological, environmental and biodiversity benefits and maximise the 
quality of open space within the development and to enhance its setting 
within the immediate locality. 

Flood Lighting  

10. Prior to the use of the all-weather pitch, a lighting scheme must be submitted 
for the approval in writing of the County Planning Authority in accordance 

with the Institute of Lighting Professional’s Guidance notes for the reduction 
of obstructive light.  The scheme must be designed by a suitably qualified 

person in accordance with the recommendations for environmental zone E2 
in the ILP document “Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light 
GN01:2020 and shall provide details of lux levels and times of use together 

with a report to demonstrate its effect on nearby residential properties.  
Once approved, the scheme shall be implemented and adhered to throughout 

the lifetime of the development. 

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of adjoining residential properties. 

Hours of Use (Floodlit AWP, MUGA, sports hall and hydrotherapy pool)  

11. The all-weather pitch and its associated floodlights, the MUGA, sports hall 

and hydrotherapy pool shall not to be used outside the hours of 8.00 till 
21.00 Monday to Friday; 10.00 to 18.00 on Saturdays, and 10.00. to 16.00 

on Sundays and Bank Holidays. 

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of adjoining residential properties. 

Sports Provision Protection 

12. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020 (or any order amending, 
revoking or re-enacting that order), the All Weather Pitch and the MUGA shall 

not be used other than for sport. 

Reason: To protect the sports facility from a change of use to a non-sporting 

use that would be inappropriate to justify the loss of the grass playing field 
land in accordance with paragraph 97 of the NPPF, and to accord with 
Development Plan Policy 

INFORMATIVES 

a) In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework, 
the County Planning Authority has approached the determination of this 

application in a positive and creative way, and has worked proactively with 
the applicant by:  

Page 30

Agenda Item 4



 Providing pre-application advice;  

 Seeking amendments early on in the application process to see if a 

sustainable solution can be agreed;  

 Discussing issues of concern as early as possible, including those raised 
by consultees and third parties;  

 Giving them the opportunity to provide further information/changes to 
overcome material impacts; and 

 Working with consultees    

As a result, the County Planning Authority has been able to recommend the 
grant of planning permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with 

the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

b) The granting of any planning permission does not in any way indemnify 

against statutory nuisance action being taken should substantiated 
complaints within the remit of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 be 

received.  For further information please contact Mid Sussex District Council 
Environmental Health Department.  The developer should at all time employ 
best practical means to minimise noise disturbance to nearby residents.  All 

construction work practises should comply with B.S. 5228 1:2009 `Code of 
practice for noise and vibration control on construction and open sites'.  

Page 31

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Metres

5
3
1
7
0
0
m

5
3
2
5
0
0
m

5
3
1
7
0
0
m

5
3
2
5
0
0
m

118000m 118000m

118600m 118600m318 319 320 321 322 323 324

318 319 320 321 322 323 324

181

182

183

184

185

181

182

183

184

185

Pond

Drain

LB

LB

LB

FB

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

Play Area

El Sub Sta

Folders Meadow (Recn Gd)

Play Area

El

Sub Sta

52.9m

63.3m

63.9m

66.5m

59
.6

m

57
.4

m

50.0m

62.2m

63.7m

55.3m
57.3m

63.7m

62
.0

m

52.8m

63.2m

62.8m

48.7m

62.8m

61.6m

63.5m

KEYMER PLACE

H
A

M
B

R
O

O
K

W
A

Y

C
H

IL
C

O
M

B

C
L
O

S
E

BIRCHWOOD GROVE ROAD

B
O

U
G

H
 B

E
E

C
H

E
S

K
IN

G
S

F
O

L
D

E
R

S
 G

A
R

D
E

N
S

DRIVE

R
O

S
E

B
A

R
N

W
IN

T
O

N
S

FOLDERS LANE

G
U

IL
D

 P
L

A
C

E

K
IN

G
S

 R
I D

E

K
E

Y
M

E
R

 R
O

A
D

KIR
D
FO

R
D

FERNDALE ROAD

SINGLETON WAY

D
R

O
V

E
R

S
 W

A
Y

W
O

O
D

W
A

R
D

S
 C

L
O

S
E

S
H

E
A

R
IN

G

F
O

L
D

E
R

S
 G

R
A

N
G

E

C
L
O

S
E

LURGASHALL

C
L
O

S
E

T
H

E
 W

A
R

R
E

N

R
Y

E
LA

N
D

 R
O

A
D

FOLDERS LANE

THE HOLT

WYKEHAM W
AY

B
IR

C
H
W

O
O

D
 G

R
O

V
E
 R

O
AD

THE RIDINGS

THE R
ID

IN
GS

KEYMER GARDENS

P
E

N
D

E
A

N

T
H

O
R

N
H

U
R

S
T

Posts

Midway

2

4

2 46

2

26 to 36

Meadow

Acorns

6

46

7

10

53

Farm

44

Brendon

46

11

17

6

52

10

Birchwood

1

1
8

a

7

2

70c

12

48 to 64

2

1
0

1
8

Chapmans

Kedra

Gruinard

15

48

1

1
5

1
4

Cleves

1

61

Millbrook

1
2

14

14

30

2

6

Millstone

Burgess Hill

Overhills

9

Hilgay

18

Birchways

24

Strebor House

Lea Copse

48

Oakenshaw

Silver Birches

10

24
26

9

1
1

Mary House

31

2

5

Hilgay

1

4

Highmead

14

Brockenhurst

45

Cottage

Ashridge

Herons

16

41

2
3

36

School for Girls

1
2

2
2

28

7

19

Oakleigh

3
2

Conifers

Bramwell

1

Wykeham

18

Fairlawn

2
6

70b

1

Dyfed

Carmel

Cottage

The Mallards

7
c

2

38

16

1
4

Community

5

Primary School

Pond House

Jamlyns

Farthings

Greenlands

Treetops

2

1

Hapling

House

69

49

1
2

33 to
 43 20

3

Knapps Cottage

28a

Ridgeway

11

6

Cherry Tree

58

2b

27

70

1

1

43

11

38

64

1

Oaklands

1
1

12

1
2

Birchwood

Appletree

32

5

Walstead House

Orchards

32

66

25

1
5

14

9

Folders

House

6

1
4

1
1

3

7

18

1
6

Little
1
9

1

3

Larch

Cottage

Wye Cottage

9

5

1

7

El Sub Sta

Holford

3

Everest

Mellow

Treloyhan

20

7

46

42

1

Newick House

2

33

25

38

3
0

2
8

16

2a

7b

Littlewick

Acorn

9

69

7

6
4

The Laurels

1

2

2

42

21B

62

56

47

3
6

51 to 61

Firgrove

1
8

Freshfields

4

1

3

7

1
1

1
6

1
8

Glassbrook

1

8

1

5

Birchwood Grove

Mulberries

1

Gables

Birchcroft

1
1

1
5

3

3

Little

South

Jackdaws 1
7

2
0

St Anton

4

House

1
5

Cottage

6

9

72

25

8

Eco House

House

70a

14

60

3
4

20

8

52

37

3

63

50

School

2

8

12

21

2
2

54

14

Birchwood

28

6

Farrarmere

34

1

52

8

Brackley

Woodwards

Highfield

2

MimosaPeveril

7a

12

Sorrento

6

8

High Oaks

8 54a

5

11

Southfields

Parkwood

Key

Existing Site Boundary Line

Rev:   Date:       By:   Chck:    Appr:      Description:

Job/ Dwg No/ Rev:

Drawn: Appr:Checked:

Scale(s):

Date:

@  A1

Drawing Title:

Job Title:

Client:

Drawing Status:

Studio 10, Cliff Road Studios
Cliff Road, London NW1 9AN

tel+44 (0)20 7267 7676
info@haverstock.com
www.haverstock.com

Haverstock LLP

Do not scale from this 
drawing: Check all dimensions on site before ordering.

P.1

1 : 200

1191 - HAV -ZZ -XX -DR -A -

OJ SDR CB 20/11/20

1007

Site Location Plan

Woodlands Meed College

West Sussex Council

Planning

1:1250

P.1 20/11/20 Issued to Planning

VISUAL SCALE 1:1250  @ A1

125m25m 100m75m50m0m

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 2



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Key

Existing Site Boundary Line

Existing Vehicular Access

Existing Pedestrian Access

Rev:   Date:       By:   Chck:    Appr:      Description:

Job/ Dwg No/ Rev:

Drawn: Appr:Checked:

Scale(s):

Date:

@  A1

Drawing Title:

Job Title:

Client:

Drawing Status:

Studio 10, Cliff Road Studios
Cliff Road, London NW1 9AN

tel+44 (0)20 7267 7676
info@haverstock.com
www.haverstock.com

Haverstock LLP

Do not scale from this 
drawing: Check all dimensions on site before ordering.

P.1

1 : 500

1191 - HAV -ZZ -XX -DR -A -

OJ SDR CB 20/11/20

1006

Existing Site Plan

Woodlands Meed College

West Sussex Council

Planning

1:500

P.1 20/11/20 Issued to Planning

VISUAL SCALE 1:500  @ A1

50m10m 40m30m20m0m

1 : 500

Existing Site Plan
1

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 3



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 37

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank



E
a
st

 E
le

va
tio

n

South Elevation

W
e
st

 E
le

va
tio

n

North Elevation

FFL 56.700 m

Level 00

FFL 60.110 m

Level 01

T/O 63.775 m

Roof

T/O 64.575 m

Parapet

FFL 56.700 m

Level 00

FFL 60.110 m

Level 01

T/O 63.775 m

Roof

T/O 64.575 m

Parapet

WOODLANDS MEED COLLEGE

FFL 56.700 m

Level 00

FFL 60.110 m

Level 01

T/O 63.775 m

Roof

T/O 64.575 m

Parapet

FFL 56.700 m

Level 00

FFL 60.110 m

Level 01

T/O 63.775 m

Roof

T/O 64.575 m

Parapet

Rev:   Date:       By:   Chck:    Appr:      Description:

Job/ Dwg No/ Rev:

Drawn: Appr:Checked:

Scale(s):

Date:

@  A1

Drawing Title:

Job Title:

Client:

Drawing Status:

Studio 10, Cliff Road Studios
Cliff Road, London NW1 9AN

tel+44 (0)20 7267 7676
info@haverstock.com
www.haverstock.com

Haverstock LLP

Do not scale from this 
drawing: Check all dimensions on site before ordering.

P.9

As indicated

1191 - HAV -ZZ -XX -DR -A -

OJ SDR CB 20/11/20

2003

GA Elevations

Woodlands Meed College

West Sussex Council

Planning

1:200

P.4 14/09/20 Issued to Engineers

P.5 21/09/20 Issued to Team

P.6 14/10/20 Issued to Team

P.7 10/11/20 Issued to Team

P.8 11/11/20 Issued to Team

P.9 20/11/20 Issued to Planning

VISUAL SCALE 1:200  @ A1

20m4m 16m12m8m0m

01
PPC aluminium slats with associated bracketry & PPC 
supporting steel structure (RAL TBC)

02a
Brick (stretcher bond)

02b
Brick splaying reveal (varied bond)

03a
PPC aluminium framed windows (fixed) (RAL TBC)

03b
PPC aluminium framed windows (openable) (RAL TBC)

04
PPC aluminium framed louvre externally (with an internal 
opening glazed window at L/L & NVHR ventilation unit at 
H/L behind) (RAL TBC)

05
PPC aluminium framed full height glazing (curtain walling 
integrated with PPC louvers and opening vents) (RAL 
TBC)

06
Precast concrete colonnade 

07
Precast concrete panels

08
PPC aluminium roof coping (RAL TBC)

09
PPC Aluminium lettering spelling 'WOODLANDS MEED 
COLLEGE’ with concealed PPC steel supporting structure 

10
Polycarbonate canopy with associated cantilevered 
supporting PPC steel frame

11 
Companion way ladder

12 
PPC Aluminium framed sliding door to entrance (RAL TBC)

13
PPC aluminium solid panelled door (RAL TBC)

14
PpC aluminium louvered door with louvered overhead 
panel to plant rooms (RAL TBC)

15
PPC aluminium louvers (RAL TBC)

16
Concealed RWP throughout the building 

17
PPC steel gate to external service yard (RAL TBC)

1 : 200

North Elevation
1

1 : 200

East Elevation
2

1 : 200

South Elevation
3

1 : 200

West Elevation
4

0802a 0715

0116 050403a07 06

03a04 07

0102a 08 05

02a 01 02b03a 02a 05 10

08 02a 13 02b 01 09 02b12 10 01 11 02a 17

01 02a 03a 02b 13 0805

15 11 03a 02b 10 08

14 05 15

07 02a

04 10 05 07

08

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 5



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Key decision: Not applicable 
Unrestricted 

 

Planning and Rights of Way Committee 

30 March 2021 

Application to register land known as Rascals Wood Field in the 

parish of Shipley as a Town or Village Green 

Report by Director of Law and Assurance  

Electoral division/s: Billingshurst 

 

Summary 

West Sussex County Council, as Registration Authority for town and village greens 

received an application to register land known as Rascals Wood Field in the parish 
of Shipley in November 2019. 

The application was made by local resident, Mrs Tessa Nash and sought to register 

the land as a village green under Section 15(2) Commons Act 2006. 

During the statutory consultation process, objection to the application was made on 
behalf of the Landowners, Occupiers and Catesby Estates Limited.   

An Independent Inspector, Mr Stephen Whale (Barrister Landmark Chambers) was 
appointed to hold a non-statutory public inquiry into the matter.  This was held 

between 19 and 21 January 2021 and Mr Whale reported his findings and 
recommendation in a full report dated 15 February 2021.  The full report is 

attached at Appendix 1. 

Recommendation 

That the application for the registration of land know as Rascals Wood Field as a 
Town or Village Green be refused for the reason set out in the Inspectors report 

dated 15 February 2021.  

 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The application made by Mrs Tessa Nash to register land known as Rascals 
Wood Field in the parish of Shipley as a Town or Village Green was received 

on 28 November 2019. 

1.2 The application seeks to register the land as a Town or Village Green under 
the provisions of Section 15(2) Commons Act 2006. 

1.3 In order for an application to succeed it must be shown; 

Page 41

Agenda Item 5



a) that a significant number of the inhabitants of any ‘locality’ (or of any 
‘neighbourhood within a locality’) 

b) have indulged in lawful sports or pastimes as of right (i.e. without 

permission, force or secrecy) on the application land for at least 20 
years and they continue to do so at the date of the application.   

1.4 The application land comprises a broadly triangular field extending to 

approximately 0.9 HA and includes the main access track to and from the 
neighbouring farm, including dwelling house, Rascals Farm. During the 

course of the Inquiry it was agreed by all parties that an area of dense 
bramble on the eastern edge of the site be removed from the application.  
A copy of the agreed application plan can be found at Appendix 2. 

1.5 It is the applicant’s case that the land has been used by local residents for 

the purpose of “dog walking, kite flying, flying toy planes and general 
recreational use of an unspoilt area” for over 30 years.  

1.6 The application was supported by 29 users evidence questionnaires which 

testified to use of 31 individuals from 29 different postal addresses.  

1.7 The application was advertised in line with the statutory requirements on 
12 March 2020. 

1.8 Objection to the application was received from the landowners, Mr and Mr 

Burge, the occupiers of the neighbouring farm (Rascals Farm) Mr and Mrs 
Driscoll, and Catesby Strategic Land Limited – known all together as “The 

Objectors”. 

1.9 Catesby Strategic Land Limited have an interest in the application land by 
way of an option agreement and submitted a planning application to 
Horsham District Council on the 6 April 2020 for the following development –  

“Outline application with all matters reserved except for access (excluding 
internal estates roads), for the erection of up to 100 residential units, with 

the associated vehicular and pedestrian access”.  It is to be noted that 
Horsham District Council refused the planning application and an appeal has 
been lodged by Catesby Estates (the applicants for the planning permission). 

1.10 For information, a copy of the Horsham District Council’s decision notice 

(dated 7 August 2020) and reasons for refusal of the planning application can 
be found at Appendix 3.   

1.11 The Objectors submitted an objection to the Village Green application.  They 

considered that the application failed to overcome the burden placed upon 
the applicant to establish that the core requirements of Section 15 of the 

Commons Act 2006 have been established. 

2. The Handling of the Application  

2.1 In consideration of the representations made by the Objectors and the 
Applicant, and on the basis that there is not a right of appeal to village green 

decisions, an Independent Inspector was appointed to convene a non-
statutory inquiry and provide a report to the County Council.   

Page 42

Agenda Item 5



2.2 The inquiry provides a suitable platform to enable the various evidence to be 
efficiently explained and tested before an inspector. 

2.3 In Somerford Parish Council v Cheshire East Borough Council & Anor 

[2016] the High Court quashed a decision made by a Registration Authority 
where it had proceeded by way of written submissions only. It was held by 

the court that there had not been a fair opportunity to make submissions on 
all the evidence and moreover there was a need to explore the issues by 

receiving and testing oral evidence at a public inquiry. 

3. Consideration of the application 

3.1 Due to the ongoing Covid pandemic, the inquiry was held virtually between 
19 – 21 January 2021 and was live streamed on the County Council’s 
website.  Details of the Inquiry, including the deadlines for submitting 

representations were published in the local press, sent to the Parish Council, 
Horsham District Council and notices were also posted on site. 

3.2 Having heard the evidence both in support of and in opposition to the 

application, the Inspector (Mr Stephen Whale, Barrister, Landmark 
Chambers) produced a report to the County Council (Appendix 1).  He 

considered that there were four issues for him to determine and his response 
to these are set out in paragraphs 12 and 13 of his report.  These issues are:  

 Issue 1: Is the neighbourhood relied upon by Mrs Nash a “neighbourhood” 
for the purposes of section 15(2) of the 2006 Act?  

 
 Issue 2: Is the locality relied upon by Mrs Nash a “locality” for the 

purposes of “neighbourhood within a locality” in section 15(2) of the 2006 
Act?  

 

 Issue 3: Did a significant number of the inhabitants of the claimed 
neighbourhood within the claimed locality indulge in lawful sports and 

pastimes on the land during the 20 years ending 28 November 2019?  
 

 Issue 4: Did those inhabitants indulge in those lawful sports and pastimes 

on the land during those 20 years as of right? 

3.3 His overall conclusions can be found at paragraph 79 of the report. He 
concluded: 

 In relation to Issue 1, that the neighbourhood relied upon by the applicant 

is not a “neighbourhood” for the purposes of Section 15(2) Commons Act 
2006. 

 In relation to issue 2, that the locality relied upon by the applicant is not a 

“locality” for the purposes of “neighbourhood within a locality” in section 
15(2) Commons Act 2006.   

 In relation to issue 3, an insignificant number of the inhabitants of the 

claimed neighbourhood within the claimed locality indulged in lawful 
sports and pastimes on the land during the 20 years. 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 5



3.4 Given the Inspectors conclusions in relation to issues 1 – 3 (as set out above 
and in the main report attached) issue 4 does not arise for determination.  

3.3 The Inspector, at paragraph 80 of his report, therefore stated that the 

application be refused. 

4. Overall Conclusion and Recommendation 

4.1 The recommendation of the Director of Law and Assurance is that Members 
should follow the recommendation of the Inspector, Mr Stephen Whale, on 

the basis that he has had the opportunity to hear, in public, all of the 
evidence and legal arguments.  Such evidence has been tested under oath 

through cross-examination. 

4.2 For the reasons set out at 3.3 above and in accordance with the findings of 
Mr Stephen Whale, members are recommended to refuse the application.  

5. Other options considered (and reasons for not proposing) 

5.1 Not applicable in this instance.  

6. Consultation, engagement and advice 

6.1 The application was advertised in line with the statutory requirements as 

detailed in paragraph 1.7.  Details of the public inquiry and the deadline for 
submissions were also published in accordance with the directions of the 

appointed Inspector.    

7. Finance 

7.1 The County Council is under a duty to investigate applications to register 
Village Greens and all costs associated with the consideration of the 

application by officers’ falls within existing budgets. 

7.2 Cost implications arise: 

i. In the holding of a non-statutory inquiry to hear the evidence 

ii. Should the decision of the committee be challenged by way of Judicial 
Review. 

7.3 The decision taken by the investigating officer and the Rights of Way 

Committee is a decision based on the application of strict legal tests and the 
above costs cannot be a consideration in the determination of the 
application. 

8. Risk implications and mitigations  

8.1 The decision is one that must be taken on strict legal tests: 

i. If the application is not determined in accordance with the tests this 
could lead to a successful legal challenge by way of Judicial Review. 

8.2 In reaching a recommendation the investigating officer has considered the 

evidence and recommendation set out in the Inspectors report. 

Page 44

Agenda Item 5



9. Policy alignment and compliance 

Equality and Human Rights Assessment 

9.1 The County Council has a duty to have regard to the impact of any proposal 

on those people with characteristics protected by the Equality Act. Officers 
considered the information provided by the applicant, together with the 
responses from consultees and other parties, and determined that the 

proposal would have no material impact on individuals or identifiable groups 
with protected characteristics.  

Human Rights Act 1998 Implications 

9.2 It is unlawful for a public authority to act in any way, which is incompatible 

with a convention right. The rights, which should be considered, are rights 
pursuant to Article 8, Article 1 and Protocol 1 and Article 6. 

9.3 Article 8 protects the right to respect for private and family life including an 

individual’s home. This is a qualified right and there may be interference by a 
public authority if that authority does so with an intention of protecting the 
right and freedom of others. 

9.4 Article 1, Protocol 1 deals with the protection of property. Again, this is a 

qualified right and interference of it may take place where it is in the public’s 
interest to do so subject to the conditions provided by law. Any interference, 

however, must be proportionate. The main body of the report identifies the 
extent to which there is interference with these rights and whether the 

interference is proportionate. 

9.5 The Committee should be aware of Article 6, the focus of which (for the 
purpose of this Committee) is the determination of an individual’s civil rights 
and obligations. Article 6 provides that in the determination of these rights, 

an individual is entitled to a fair and public hearing within a reasonable time 
by an independent and impartial tribunal. Article 6 has been subject to a 

great deal of case law. It has been decided that for rights of way matters, 
the decision making process as a whole, which includes the right of review by 
the High Court, complied with Article 6. 

Crime and Disorder 

9.6 The Definitive Map Modification Order process involves the application of 
legal tests, which mean that it is not possible to give weight to any effect on 
crime and disorder   

Climate Change 

9.7 Enhancement of places for recreation such as a Village Green is a positive 
contribute towards the Council stated ambition of being carbon neutral by 
2030, however such considerations are not matters that can be taken into 

account when consideration applications against the strict legal tests 

Public Health  

9.8 The addition of new village greens could assist in enhancing the general 
health and wellbeing of the communities served by the Council. However, 

Page 45

Agenda Item 5



such considerations are not matters that can be taken into account when 
considering applications against the strict legal test.  

Tony Kershaw 

Director Law and Assurance 

Contact Officer: Ami Dye, Legal Assistant – 0330 2222687 

Appendices 

1) Inspectors report dated 15 February 2021 

2) Revised application plan 

3) Planning Application decision notice of Horsham District Council dated 7 July 

2020 

Background papers 

 Application form and original application plan 

Page 46

Agenda Item 5



1 
 

IN THE MATTER OF APPLICATION TVG31/50 FOR REGISTRATION OF 

RASCALS WOOD FIELD AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN 

 

 

 

 

 

           

INSPECTOR’S REPORT 

           

 

  

Page 47

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



2 
 

Recommendation: the application should be refused 

Introduction 

1. By way of an application dated 27 November 2019, received by West Sussex 

County Council (“WSCC”) as registration authority the next day, the 

Applicant (“Mrs Nash”) applied under section 15(2) of the Commons Act 

2006 (“the 2006 Act”) for the registration of land in Southwater (described 

as Rascals Wood Field) as a town or village green. 

2. The application was supported by a small number of photographs and 

various Questionnaires, to which I return later in this report.   

3. There was an objection from Robert and Samantha Burge, Anthony and 

Lisa Driscoll plus Catesby Strategic Land Limited (“the Objectors”).  This 

prompted a Response from Mrs Nash.   

4. Further written evidence was submitted, for and against the application, in 

the run-up to the inquiry and in accordance with my directions. 

5. The inquiry took place between 19-21 January 2021, in the course of which 

I undertook a site visit (complementing a site visit I undertook pre-inquiry). 

6. The following gave oral evidence during the inquiry in support of the 

application: Len Cook, Magda Haire, Mrs Nash, Paula Spreadbury1 and 

Neil Robins. 

7. The following gave oral evidence during the inquiry in objection to the 

application: Anthony Aspbury, Robert Burge, Joshua Carter, Anthony 

 
1 aka Paula Negus. 

Page 48

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



3 
 

Driscoll, Frederica Driscoll, Lisa Driscoll, Glenda Lamden, Andrew 

Spearing and Ella Spearing. 

8. Helpfully, the parties agreed a Statement of Common Ground.  On 21 

January 2021, it was corrected and supplemented.  Amongst other matters, 

the parties agree the legal authorities and principles relied upon by each of 

them.   

The Application Site 

9. The Application Site comprises a broadly triangular field extending to 

approximately 0.9 hectares.  The line of public footpath 1889 cuts across the 

Application Site.  It is common ground between the parties that the 

condition and appearance of the Application Site changed over the 20 year 

period ending with the application, as is clear from the aerial photographs 

of it.  Put shortly, it became more overgrown as the years went by.   

10. The original Application Site is shown edged red at page 10 of the inquiry 

bundle.  Subsequently, the parties agreed that an area of dense brambles 

at the eastern end of the Application Site should be excluded from it.  This 

area of dense brambles is shown coloured blue on an annotated version of 

the application plan. 

11. There is disagreement between the parties as to whether or not an 

additional area of land, comprising the access track to Rascals Farm, should 

also be excluded from the application.  Given my recommendation, and the 

reasons for it, this issue is of no consequence.   

 

Page 49

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



4 
 

The main issues 

12. Given the way in which the application and the inquiry unfolded, the main 

issues for my determination are as follows: 

Issue 1:  Is the neighbourhood relied upon by Mrs Nash a 

“neighbourhood” for the purposes of section 15(2) of the 2006 

Act?  

Issue 2: Is the locality relied upon by Mrs Nash a “locality” for the 

purposes of “neighbourhood within a locality” in section 15(2) 

of the 2006 Act? 

Issue 3: Did a significant number of the inhabitants of the claimed 

neighbourhood within the claimed locality indulge in lawful 

sports and pastimes on the land during the 20 years ending 28 

November 2019? 

13. If I answer Issue 3 in the affirmative, and depending upon my 

determination of Issues 1-2, a further main issue may arise.  Thus: 

Issue 4: Did those inhabitants indulge in those lawful sports and 

pastimes on the land during those 20 years as of right?  

Issue 1: Is the neighbourhood relied upon by Mrs Nash a “neighbourhood” for the 

purposes of section 15(2) of the 2006 Act?  

14. The short answer to this question is no. 

15. This answer is fatal to the application.  It should be refused on this basis 

alone. 

Page 50

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



5 
 

16. I start first with the legal framework, helpfully summarised at paragraphs 

19-21 of the Objectors’ Legal Authorities and Propositions document.  To 

repeat, this is agreed. 

17. A “neighbourhood” for section 15(2) purposes is not a sub-division of a 

“locality” and need not be a recognised administrative unit.  However, it is 

not any area of land that an applicant chooses to delineate upon a plan.  It 

must have a “sufficient degree of cohesiveness”.  Indicia may include: 

whether or not the area has natural or distinct boundaries; the presence or 

otherwise of expected facilities; differences in housing types and standards; 

and differences in socio-economic circumstances. 

18. I turn next to the facts of the present case, and apply them to the indicia. 

19. Mrs Nash’s claimed neighbourhood is an irregular Y-shaped area of land, 

shown hatched black on the plan at inquiry bundle page 37. 

20. The genesis of this claimed neighbourhood is as follows.  Mrs Nash part-

completed a Questionnaire, made several copies and then distributed those 

part-completed copies to various addresses in and around Southwater said 

to be occupied by people who use the Application Site predominantly for 

walking with their dogs.  Mr Robins (and possibly others) then circulated 

the part-completed Questionnaires to further addresses in and around 

Southwater.  Upon completion of the Questionnaires, most recipients 

returned the Questionnaires to Mrs Nash.  Mrs Nash subsequently provided 

these to WSCC in support of her application.  A small number of recipients 

sent the completed Questionnaires direct to WSCC.  Informed by the 

Page 51

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



6 
 

location of the homes of those who submitted Questionnaires, Mrs Nash 

drew the line of her claimed neighbourhood on a plan.  However, there are 

no such homes within large parts of the claimed neighbourhood.  The best 

example is zone 2,2 which contains no such homes.  Moreover, some of the 

homes of those submitting Questionnaires are outside the claimed 

neighbourhood.  At no point were Questionnaire recipients provided with a 

plan of the claimed neighbourhood.  Mrs Nash did not identify this until 

much later, on 3 September 2020. 

21. It can thus be seen that the boundary of Mrs Nash’s claimed neighbourhood 

is essentially arbitrary.  It does not derive from any assessment of natural 

or distinct boundaries, facilities, housing types or standards or from any 

assessment of socio-economic circumstances.  Rather, it is a product of 

whomsoever Mrs Nash happened to select to receive a part-completed 

Questionnaire, the people to whom it happened to be passed on, the people 

who ultimately happened to complete the Questionnaire and submit it to 

WSCC (whether via Mrs Nash or direct) and the locations of the homes of 

those people (whether they have submitted a Questionnaire or otherwise) 

said by Mrs Nash to walk dogs on the Application Site.  That is a very 

unpromising platform on which to seek to establish a section 15(2) 

neighbourhood.   

22. The claimed neighbourhood falls within two civil parishes.  It is part-

suburban and part-rural.  Mr Aspbury analysed this claimed neighbourhood 

 
2 Mr Aspbury divided the claimed neighbourhood into four zones: see page 386 of the inquiry bundle. 

Page 52

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



7 
 

in detail in his witness statement.  Mrs Nash uncharitably describes this 

analysis as “a long-winded professional document”.  I prefer to describe it 

as professional, thorough, relevant and helpful.  A large proportion of it is 

agreed.  I reject the assertion3 that Mr Aspbury “is purely summarising the 

statutory criteria”.  On the contrary, he applies a range of relevant criteria 

to the facts and reaches conclusions.   

23. Mr Aspbury provided evidence4 that there is only one public house within 

the putative neighbourhood, at its extreme northern tip, self-evidently 

peripheral to it, close to the village centre and clearly a settlement-wide 

facility rather than a neighbourhood facility.  His witness statement 

provides evidence of a range of other facilities within Southwater: see his 

Figure 5 at inquiry bundle page 329 and the key to it on the preceding page.  

With the exception of the public house referred to, and, it would seem, a 

village/church hall, none of these is within the area of the claimed 

neighbourhood.  It follows that there is no post office, leisure centre or sports 

club with fields, supermarket or convenience store, church, solicitors’ 

offices, doctor’s surgery, dental surgery, chemist, library or bank anywhere 

within the claimed neighbourhood.  There is no school within it.  It is agreed 

that the nearest shops to the claimed neighbourhood are approximately 

850m north of the Application Site.    

 
3 See paragraph CS5 of Mrs Nash’s Closing Statement. 
4 Witness statement, paragraph 3.3.12. 

Page 53

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



8 
 

24. Mrs Nash agrees with Mr Aspbury’s Figures 1-8 and his Appendices 1-11 

inclusive in terms of their factual material.5  Appendix 11 shows the 

indicative locations of those people who submitted Questionnaires.  As 

recorded above, there are none in Mr Aspbury’s zone 2.  There are very few 

in his zones 1 and 4.  Mrs Nash did not take issue with Mr Aspbury’s 

position that her claimed neighbourhood can be divided into these four 

discrete areas, or his evidence as to their characteristics.  I accept his 

evidence6 that the four areas are each distinct and internally diverse, and 

that, with the exception of some parts of two of the sub-areas, all parts of 

the claimed neighbourhood have better access to other open space areas 

than to the Application Site.  As Mr Aspbury states,7 and as I accept, there 

are no historical or current references to a discrete neighbourhood or 

community corresponding to the area of the claimed neighbourhood and 

there is no documentary evidence to support the proposition that the 

Application Site is the physical and recreational focus of any community or 

neighbourhood let alone the claimed neighbourhood.  No ONS Census 

Output Area coincides with the claimed neighbourhood.  It is common 

ground that the claimed neighbourhood is divided into almost 60 lower-level 

postcodes.  Mrs Nash has not attributed a name to her claimed 

neighbourhood.  Estates agents do not identify this claimed neighbourhood.  

There is no evidence of any historical or current community group, 

organisation or body only run by or only for the residents of the claimed 

 
5 See paragraph CG2.4f-g of the latest Statement of Common Ground.   
6 Witness statement, paragraphs 3.3.21 and 3.3.22. 
7 Witness statement, paragraphs 3.4.1.1 and 3.4.1.2. 

Page 54

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



9 
 

neighbourhood, nor is there any historical or current evidence of any 

community organisations associating themselves only with the claimed 

neighbourhood.  Whilst there are a number of designated public open spaces 

within the claimed neighbourhood, this is unsurprising given that it 

extends to approximately 77 hectares and Mrs Nash does not rely upon 

these to derive her claimed neighbourhood.      

25. I was unimpressed by Mrs Nash’s questions of Mr Aspbury during cross-

examination which attempted to demonstrate that he was somehow unable 

to assist the inquiry because he is not local to Southwater, especially given 

that Mrs Nash agrees with so much of his evidence.  The other main plank 

of her cross-examination of him, which focused on the use of a small area of 

public open space to the east of Shipley Road, simply took up time to no 

effect and left large and relevant swathes of his evidence unchallenged.       

26. There may be a case in which there is an area of land some of whose 

inhabitants own dogs and walk with them on another area of land with a 

sufficient degree of cohesiveness as a result that it comprises a 

neighbourhood for the purposes of section 15(2) of the 2006 Act.  But this 

case is not that case.   

27. On the contrary, the genesis of the boundary of Mrs Nash’s claimed 

neighbourhood, its essentially arbitrary boundary, its straddling of two civil 

parishes, its part-rural and part-suburban characteristics, its lack of 

facilities, its four distinct and internally diverse sub-areas, its lack of 

historical or current references or associations and its lack even of a name 

Page 55

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



10 
 

all lead me to conclude without hesitation that Mrs Nash’s claimed 

neighbourhood is not a “neighbourhood” for the purposes of section 15(2) of 

the 2006 Act.  It does not have anything like the necessary sufficient degree 

of cohesiveness to meet that test. 

28. On that basis alone, and to repeat, the application fails. 

29. In deference to the parties, and the energy devoted to the application over 

many months, I will though go on and determine at least Issues 2-3.   

Issue 2: Is the locality relied upon by Mrs Nash a “locality” for the purposes of 

“neighbourhood within a locality” in section 15(2) of the 2006 Act? 

30. The short answer to this question is no. 

31. This answer is likewise fatal to the application.  It should also be refused 

on this basis alone. 

32. Again, I start first with the legal framework.  This is helpfully summarised 

at paragraph 18 of the Objectors’ Legal Authorities and Propositions 

document, and also agreed.  It records that a “locality” is not an arbitrary 

line on a map.  Rather, it is an administrative unit.  This could be a county, 

a city, a town, a borough, a parish (civil or ecclesiastical) or an electoral 

ward.  Gadsden & Cousins on Commons and Greens8 states at 15-40 that 

“locality” in the context of section 15 of the 2006 Act “relates to a defined 

administrative unit known to law, which ought to reflect some community 

of interest on the part of its inhabitants.” 

 
8 Sweet & Maxwell, 3rd edition, 2020. 

Page 56

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



11 
 

33. Mrs Nash’s claimed locality comprises the civil parish of Southwater plus 

that part of the civil parish of Shipley hatched black on page 37 of the 

inquiry bundle.  This area does not relate to a defined administrative unit 

known to law.  It is not a “locality” for the purposes of “neighbourhood 

within a locality” in section 15(2) of the 2006 Act. 

Issue 3: Did a significant number of the inhabitants of the claimed neighbourhood 

within the claimed locality indulge in lawful sports and pastimes on the land 

during the 20 years ending 28 November 2019? 

34. Mrs Nash’s case on Issue 3 rested on a number of matters, but one in 

particular stands out namely her reliance upon the Questionnaires. 

35. This aspect of her case, and the reliability of these Questionnaires, merits 

detailed scrutiny. 

36. First and foremost, and as recorded above, Mrs Nash pre-completed a large 

number of the Questionnaire answers before they were circulated to others.  

I regard this conduct as being completely inappropriate.  All the 

Questionnaires include an Important Note at the outset, part of which 

reads: “It is therefore necessary for witnesses to answer all the questions…”  

Mrs Nash’s conduct was contrary to this note.  In any event, one should not 

need such a note to be able to realise that one should not be completing 

answers for others.  I would add that Mrs Nash is a practising solicitor, who 

should have known better.  Incidentally, I reject Mr Robins’ assertion that 

Mrs Nash completed the answers “to help with the understanding of some 

of the questions”.  This assertion does not stack up.  Many of the questions 

Page 57

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



12 
 

are very simple, the provision of “Yes” or “No” answers hardly helps with 

the understanding of the questions and, in any event, if a person does not 

understand a question they ought to ask WSCC for clarification.   

37. The bottom line is that many of the answers in the Questionnaires were 

Mrs Nash’s answers, not the witnesses’ answers. 

38. Upon receipt of the Questionnaires, WSCC realised that many of the 

answers had been pre-completed.  It explained to Mrs Nash, correctly, that 

this may affect the weight given to them.  It gave Mrs Nash two options: 

completion by all users of new forms in their entirety, or written 

confirmation from all users that they were content with the partial pre-

completion and that all questions and answers had been read and 

understood.   

39. Mrs Nash elected for the second, simpler (but less appropriate) course of 

action but in fact compounded her original error in the process.  Rather than 

asking all users to write their own letters to WSCC to provide the 

confirmation sought, Mrs Nash instead produced a pro forma letter and 

provided it to some or all of the users to sign.  The danger with pro forma 

letters of this kind is that the recipients will simply sign them, without 

proper consideration or understanding of what they are signing.   

40. Len Cook, one of the witnesses at the inquiry, is a classic case in point.  He 

was provided with a part-completed Questionnaire.  To make matters 

worse, and as was revealed during his oral evidence, the balance of his 

Questionnaire was completed by Ms Spreadbury.  It included answers, 

Page 58

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



13 
 

written by Ms Spreadbury, to the effect that Mr Cook had known the land 

for 35 years and that he had carried out dog walking on it from 1984 to date.  

Mr Cook said during his oral evidence that these answers were wrong, that 

he had known the land for 42 years but that he had carried out dog walking 

on it only since around 2010.  Mr Cook made it clear that Ms Spreadbury 

had written these answers without reference to him.  Mr Cook did not sign 

his Questionnaire.  He did though sign one of Mrs Nash’s pro forma letters.  

Given Ms Spreadbury’s completely wrong answers, I fail to see why he did 

so.  The only reasonable inference is that he signed the pro forma letter 

without properly considering or understanding what he was signing.            

41. Mr Robins is another case in point when it comes to the danger of pro forma 

letters.  Question 5(a) of the Questionnaire asked as follows: “Do you agree 

with the boundaries of the ‘locality’ or ‘neighbourhood within a locality’ 

shown on the map edged in red?”  The pre-completed answer was “Yes”.  I 

would add that the word “red” was written in manuscript in every case, 

probably by Mrs Nash (as was the answer).  Mrs Nash provided all 

Questionnaire recipients with a map showing an area edged in red.  But 

this area was neither a claimed locality, nor a claimed neighbourhood 

within a locality.  Rather, it was the original Application Site.  I infer that 

Mrs Nash did not understand question 5(a) when she answered it on behalf 

of herself and others.  Mr Robins told the inquiry that he asked Mrs Nash 

for guidance on the meaning of some of the Questionnaire questions.  He 

signed and dated his Questionnaire.  He subsequently signed one of the pro 

forma letters, to confirm amongst other things that “all questions and 

Page 59

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



14 
 

answers provided in [the Questionnaire] were fully read and understood.”  

Yet, by his own admission, he did not fully understand all the questions in 

the Questionnaire (at any rate, at least not initially).  But there is nothing 

in his pro forma letter to reflect that admission.              

42. Not all of those who submitted Questionnaires provided a corresponding pro 

forma letter.  That is but another reason affecting the reliability of these 

Questionnaires. 

43. Only five of the people who submitted Questionnaires provided oral 

evidence during the inquiry, during which they were cross-examined and 

questioned (under oath).  Mrs Nash was one of them.  A virtue of the cross-

examination and questioning of a witness under oath, and perhaps its 

principal virtue, is that evidence can be tested.  Experience shows that 

written evidence often does not withstand scrutiny when tested.  Mr Cook’s 

written evidence (or, one could say, the evidence provided by Mrs Nash and 

Ms Spreadbury in his name) is a case in point.  I have already covered his 

dog walking.  Another matter which emerged from his oral evidence, but 

which cannot be gleaned from “his” Questionnaire, is that his walking on 

the Application Land was on the public footpath.  Mrs Nash described Mr 

Cook as a key witness.  The description is accurate, although not for the 

reason she hoped for, as his oral evidence served to assist only the Objectors.  

Incidentally, I commend Mr Cook for venturing to Mrs Nash’s house to give 

his evidence and for speaking so candidly and truthfully.  He did the inquiry 

a service.   

Page 60

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



15 
 

44. Another feature of many of the Questionnaires, also affecting their 

reliability, is that they lack detail.  Many of the questions ask for precise 

details, and yet detail is lacking.  This is another danger of pre-completed 

answers.  Left to answer questions for themselves, users may ponder the 

questions and provide details in answering them.  If they see that questions 

have already been answered, they will be more inclined to skate over the 

questions and answers and to concentrate simply on the questions which 

have not been pre-answered.        

45. Question 24 of the Questionnaire asks if the user has any photographs or 

any other evidence of use of the land by local inhabitants.  Remarkably, only 

Mrs Nash provided any photographs and these were very few in number.  

The net result is that the assertions in the Questionnaires, largely pre-

completed and very largely untested at the inquiry, are in very large 

measure unsupported by any contemporaneous photographs or other 

evidence.  That also bears on the reliability of the Questionnaires. 

46. My conclusion, in the light of all the above, is that the Questionnaires of 

those who did not give oral evidence are completely unreliable and carry no 

weight.  The foundation on which Mrs Nash sought to erect her case on 

Issue 3 largely collapses. 

47. What remains? 

48. I find as a fact, on the balance of probabilities, that there was some 

qualifying user on the Application Site during the relevant 20 year period. 

49. I begin with activities other than walking and dog walking.   

Page 61

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



16 
 

50. Mrs Nash provided a photograph of one of her sons, and a cousin of his, 

taken in late 1999.  The boys are holding a model aeroplane.  They are 

standing on or just off the line of the public footpath.  But is it implausible 

to suggest that they were confined to the public footpath when flying this 

model aeroplane.  Rather, I conclude that they played with it on part of the 

Application Land.  The overhead power line did not preclude it.        

51. Ms Spreadbury provided evidence of her children exploring “the wild grass” 

in the Spring/Summer and of her eldest son’s “picnic parties” on the 

Application Land.  She also refers to “family picnics,” whilst not clearly 

distinguishing these from her eldest son’s picnic parties.  That said, there 

is no detail in terms of the number of these various events or of their timing 

or precise location.  Ms Spreadbury has avoided the land near the boundary 

with Rascals Farm since mid-2015.  Doing the best I can on the evidence, I 

conclude that there were probably a small number of these exploration or 

picnic events (in single figures) but confined to the warmer months and to 

only small parts of the Application Site.  That finding is consistent with the 

evidence of Mr Robins.  He said he had seen picnics but only a few and 

occasionally.  Magda Haire gave evidence to the same effect.  As for when 

these events occurred, I conclude that they occurred prior to mid-2015.  It 

is apparent that the arrival of the Driscolls at Rascals Farm in mid-2015 

caused Ms Spreadbury to change her user of the Application Land and of 

course her children have grown older all the while.            

52. Ms Spreadbury also gave evidence of her undertaking dog therapy training 

on the Application Site, although she was vague as to when and where it 

Page 62

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



17 
 

occurred.  I find that it occurred on a small number of occasions, likewise in 

single figures, since 2010, but close to the public footpath.  That location is 

consistent with Ms Spreadbury’s evidence to the effect that the dogs would 

thereby become accustomed to people walking on the public footpath.  I also 

find that Mr Robins used part of the Application Site for puppy training on 

a very small number of occasions, also in single figures, in 2005. 

53. On one or two occasions, members of the local hunt rode briefly onto the 

Application Site in pursuit of a fox.  This took place prior to the fox hunting 

ban, which came into effect in 2005.  In fairness, Mrs Nash does not rely 

upon these fleeting incidents.  She did though refer to her daughter having 

ridden her pony “around field from 2002 to 2006”.  I find as a fact that these 

occasions were very few in number, also in single figures.    

54. I am not persuaded that there has been kite flying or football on the 

Application Site.  There is no photographic or documentary evidence of it.  

For the record, I am not saying that the references to it are dishonest.  I 

simply find that the burden of proof is not satisfied.  I accept that there has 

been berry picking on the Application Site, but this was in conjunction with 

user of the public footpath and is not qualifying user for village green 

purposes.  Ms Spreadbury referred to games of hide and seek and wild 

camping in the woods.  I find that these activities took place in the trees 

outside the Application Site.  It is not qualifying user.            

55. What then is the result of the above in terms of qualifying user?  It is as 

follows: one incident of model aeroplane flying on part of the Application 

Page 63

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



18 
 

Site; a small number of exploration or picnic events, prior to mid-2015, 

confined to the warmer months and to only small parts of the Application 

Site; a small number of puppy training occasions on part of the Application 

Site in 2005; a small number of horse or pony riding occasions, no later than 

2006; a small number of dog therapy training sessions close to the public 

footpath between 2010 and the application date.     

56. Does this degree of lawful sports and pastimes get Mrs Nash home on Issue 

3?  The answer is no, leaving aside for now the “significant number of 

inhabitants” issue.  The user is far too sporadic to amount to continuous use 

for lawful sports and pastimes.  Also, whilst not every square inch of the 

land has to have been used for lawful sports and pastimes in order for an 

application to succeed, I am not satisfied (applying the common sense 

approach set out in R (Cheltenham Builders) v South Gloucestershire 

Council [2003] EWHC 2803 at [29]) that the whole of the Application Site 

was used for these qualifying activities.        

57. The next issue is whether there is any or sufficient walking or dog walking 

qualifying user to tip the balance in Mrs Nash’s favour.    

58. I have no doubt that there was walking, with and without dogs, on the 

Application Site during the relevant 20 year period and that some of this 

was qualifying user.  Mr Robins did so, with members of his family and with 

a dog (when he had one).  Mrs Haire did so.  Mrs Nash did so.   

59. However, I find that the qualifying user by the Robins family pre-2005 was 

“occasional”.  Their use of the public footpath, or of the Application Site as 

Page 64

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



19 
 

a route to or from the Dragon Estate, was not qualifying user.  I discuss 

2005 above.  Since 2014, the Robins family has mainly used the Application 

Site as a route to or from the Dragon Estate.  Again, that is not qualifying 

user.  I reject the assertion in Mr Robins’ Questionnaire that his general 

pattern of use of the Application Site has remained basically the same 

during the time he and his family has used it.  That answer is inconsistent 

with his letter and his oral evidence.  The explanation for the inconsistency, 

sad to report, is that Mrs Nash provided his answer to question 10.   

60. I have no doubt that Mrs Haire and Mrs Nash have walked on the 

Application Site, with their dogs, very many times during the 20 year 

period.  Some of these instances were qualifying instances, but many were 

not.  My explanation for that conclusion now follows. 

61. The Application Site used to be open grassland.  It was cut once or twice a 

year.  Incidentally, this low-level agricultural activity does not assist the 

Objectors as it was not in practice inconsistent with use of the Application 

Site for lawful sports and pastimes.  But, as is agreed, the Application Site 

became increasingly overgrown as the years went by.  I find that Mrs Haire 

and Mrs Nash wandered over the Application Site in the early years of the 

period, as did their dogs, but that this pattern changed as the years rolled 

by and the application date approached.  By around the middle of the 20 

year period, the Application Site had become essentially scrubland.  

Thereafter, the scrub, bushes and trees continued to grow.  The result was 

that, as the years went by and from around the middle of the 20 year period, 

Mrs Haire and Mrs Nash began to follow the same routes across the 

Page 65

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



20 
 

Application Site.  This had the effect of creating or consolidating visible 

worn tracks across the land.  In other words, their initial wandering turned 

into walking on defined tracks which would have appeared to the owner (or 

to anyone else) as user referable to a right of way rather than user 

suggesting to a reasonable landowner the exercise of a right to indulge in 

lawful sports and pastimes across the whole of the Application Site.  In 

other words, and ironically, the more often that Mrs Nash and Mrs Haire 

walked on the Application Site on defined routes the weaker the case for 

registration became.       

62. I cannot leave this issue without mentioning one matter of some 

controversy.  The Driscolls believe, and I find their belief to be genuine, that 

their dogs bark whenever anyone is on the Application Site.  But I find that 

this is not the case.  During my two site visits, I walked up and down the 

public footpath on numerous occasions, over much of the Application Site 

and up and down the access track to Rascals Farm.  The dogs didn’t bark.  

I am put in mind of the famous line from the Sherlock Holmes story, 

although the context is different.  But the explanation for their lack of 

barking is obvious.  The Application Site is well-screened from the Rascals 

Farm land by vegetation, by the house and by the outbuildings.  The dogs 

could be in the house or otherwise screened from the Application Site.  If so, 

they would not see a person on the Application Site and so would not bark.  

No doubt they invariably do bark when they see a person; it is just that they 

do not always see them.  The net result is that Mrs Haire and Mrs Nash 

have often been able to walk on the Application Site without the Driscolls’ 

Page 66

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



21 
 

dogs alerting them to their presence.  Also, as is plain, the Driscolls could 

have been in the house, out, or otherwise occupied when people were on the 

Application Site, with the effect that the Driscolls did not see them.  My 

second site visit is an illustration of this point.  On this occasion, Mr Driscoll 

walked on the Application Site whilst I stood just inside his gate.  Ella 

Spearing was at Rascals Farm at the time.  But she did not see Mr Driscoll 

on the Application Site, for the simple and understandable reason that the 

stables obscured her view of the Application Site and she was rightly 

concentrating on attending to a horse.  The dogs did not bark at Mr Driscoll 

either, although I put this down to the fact that they recognised their 

master.        

63. Returning to the issue canvassed above, the result is that there was 

insufficient walking or dog walking qualifying user to tip the balance in Mrs 

Nash’s favour.    

64. What is more, there has not been qualifying user by a “significant number” 

of the inhabitants within the meaning of section 15(2) of the 2006 Act.  On 

my findings, the number is de minimis.  It is insufficient to indicate that 

the Application Site was in general use by the local community.  The 

number was not of such amount or in such manner as would reasonably be 

regarded as being the assertion of a public right.   

65. The answer to the Issue 3 question is, therefore: No.   

66. It follows that the application fails on all of Issues 1-3.  It should be refused 

on all or any of these bases. 

Page 67

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



22 
 

Issue 4: “as of right” 

67. Given my conclusions on Issues 1-3, Issue 4 does not arise for 

determination.  I do not propose to lengthen this report unnecessarily by 

doing so. 

Miscellaneous factual issues 

68. The application threw up a range of miscellaneous factual issues.  These 

include, in no particular order: 

 (i) Did the Driscolls’ Jack Russell attack a dog (or dogs)? 

 (ii) Did Mrs Driscoll swear at Mrs Nash? 

(iii) Was there once fencing on the right-hand side of the access track to 

Rascals Farm, after the public footpath finger post? 

(iv) Did Mr Driscoll erect a sign on a tree, replacing an earlier sign? 

(v) Did Mr Burge give the Driscolls (or any of them) authority to stop 

any unauthorised user of the Application Site? 

69. Tempting as it is, I do not propose to determine these factual issues.  There 

is no need for me to do so, given my conclusions on Issues 1-3.  I will leave 

it to the villagers to debate and decide these issues, insofar as they wish to 

do so, as villagers have done everywhere down the ages. 

The perjury allegation 

70. There is though one factual issue which merits determination. 

71. It arose in this way. 

Page 68

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



23 
 

72. During the inquiry, Mr Driscoll gave evidence that [Lady] Louise Burrell (of 

the Dragon Estate) had given the Driscolls permission to ride on her land.  

Mrs Nash briefly indicated that she disputed this.  Mr Driscoll assured Mrs 

Nash that it was the case. 

73. After the inquiry, Mrs Nash sought to adduce an email chain and she 

accused Mr Driscoll of having committed perjury.  Perjury is a very serious 

offence.  Accusing someone of perjury is a very serious accusation.  Mrs 

Nash asserted that the email chain “casts credibility on [the] reliability” of 

the Driscolls’ evidence, by which she meant that it undermined their 

credibility and the reliability of their evidence.    

74. The email chain includes these passages from a Mr Nic Burchell, apparently 

agent for the Dragon Estate and the Burrells: 

(i) “Having carried out some research and spoken to my Client, it is 

unlikely they or their representatives would have provided 

permission to ride horses around Blinks wood. The access to my 

Client’s land is via a Public Footpath, which in any case, we would 

not have permitted them to ride on”; and 

(ii) “Further to a conversation with my Client, we would be happy for you 

to forward on our responses however, it must be added, whilst there 

has been no specific or formal arrangement that my Client can recall, 

on occasion access may have been allowed as a one off.  This would 

not have been in writing.”  

Page 69

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



24 
 

75. Pausing there, these passages are an insufficient evidential basis for the 

perjury allegation.  I note the caveats: “unlikely”; “would not have” (as 

opposed to “did not”); “that my Client can recall”; “access may have been 

allowed…”; and “would not have been” (as opposed to “was not”).  In short, 

the accusation should not have been made in the first place. 

76. In response, the Objectors provided an email from Lady Louise Burrell to 

Mrs Driscoll dated 22 April 2020.  Its salient passages are as follows: “In 

general the estate allow some people who are connected to the estate via 

various livery yards that are on the estate to ride.  This is part of a rental 

agreement.  We would of course allow you and your daughter (two horses at 

a time) to ride in certain areas.  Th[e] reason we need to show you where 

you can go is because we have had several complaints from locals about 

riders riding on public foot paths.  People are getting very cross, so we just 

want to be careful.  Can we send you a map and then everyone is clear.” 

77. Rather than apologising for and withdrawing her perjury allegation, as she 

should have done, Mrs Nash changed tack and pursued a different 

allegation.  Thus: “Noted but it clearly states not on public footpaths and 

the only access from the field is via a public footpath and in their witness 

statements this is exactly how they say they access the Dragon’s Estate - 

“via the public footpath”.”  The allegation thus changed from an allegation 

regarding Mr Driscoll alone to an allegation regarding “they”.  These people 

are unspecified.  The allegation had morphed into an allegation of riding on 

the public footpath on the Application Site to access the Dragon Estate.  But 

Page 70

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



25 
 

the Burrells do not own the public footpath on the Application Site.  As for 

the quoted words (“via the public footpath”), I cannot find these exact words 

in the witness statements of any of the Driscolls.  Mr Driscoll uses the words 

“…up the western side of the Site onto the Public Footpath and into Dragons 

Wood…” but he goes on to say that Mr Burge had given permission for this, 

which Mrs Nash does not put in issue.  I am unable to conclude that the 

Driscolls or any of them ride on public footpaths on the Dragon Estate, but, 

even if they do so, that is a matter for them and the estate owners and the 

relevant highway authority.      

78. My formal conclusions in respect of this late-running issue are as follows.  I 

admit the post-inquiry evidence.  Mrs Nash should not have accused Mr 

Driscoll of perjury.  She should have dropped the matter upon receipt of 

Lady Louise Burrell’s email, rather than introducing a new allegation 

lacking in particulars.  Mr Driscoll did not commit perjury.  The alleged 

quoted words do not exist in the Driscolls’ witness statements.  Mr Burge 

gave the Driscolls permission to ride on the public footpath on the 

Application Site.  Whether or not he was entitled to give that permission is 

another matter, which Mrs Nash does not pursue.  The only person whose 

credibility is damaged by this late-running issue is Mrs Nash.  Her 

introduction of it was the last in a series of errors of judgment on her part 

during the long application process, and no doubt influenced by her 

determination to prevent housing development on the Application Site.  

That that is her motivation is not in doubt, as is disclosed in one of her post-

inquiry emails.  Thus, to quote: “…it could be fundamental to our case to 

Page 71

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



26 
 

prevent housing development.”  There is nothing wrong per se in submitting 

a village green application in an attempt to prevent housing development.  

The only pity in this case is that the motive clouded Mrs Nash’s judgment 

in numerous respects.    

Conclusion 

79. In summary, my conclusions on the main issues are as follows: 

(i) The neighbourhood relied upon by Mrs Nash is not a “neighbourhood” 

for the purposes of section 15(2) of the 2006 Act;  

(ii) The locality relied upon by Mrs Nash is not a “locality” for the 

purposes of “neighbourhood within a locality” in section 15(2) of the 

2006 Act; and 

(iii) An insignificant number of the inhabitants of the claimed 

neighbourhood within the claimed locality indulged in lawful sports 

and pastimes on the land during the 20 years ending 28 November 

2019.  The qualifying user is far too sporadic to amount to continuous 

use for lawful sports and pastimes.  The whole of the Application Site 

was not used for the qualifying activities throughout the relevant 

period.         

80. For any or all of these reasons, the application should be refused. 

 

 

Page 72

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



27 
 

STEPHEN WHALE 

LANDMARK CHAMBERS, LONDON 

15 FEBRUARY 2021 

Page 73

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Land Registry 
Current title  plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Title number WSX321854 
Ordnance Survey map reference TQ1S2SSE 
Scale 1:2500 
Administrative area West Sussex: Horsham 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Area to be excluded from 
Application Site 

TVG Ref.TVG31/50 

Amendment to the Application Site Agreed Between the Parties 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex RH12 1RL 

Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded) www.horsham.gov.uk Chief Executive: Glen Chipp 

 

 

Rhiannon Jones 
Neame Sutton Limited 
West Suite 
Coles Yard Barn 
North Lane 
Clanfield 
PO8 0RN 
 

Application Number: DC/20/0695 
 
TOWN & COUNTRY PLANNING ACT, 1990 (as amended) 
TOWN & COUNTRY PLANNING (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 
 
On behalf of: Catesby Strategic Land Limited 
 
In pursuance of their powers under the above-mentioned Act and Order, the Council hereby REFUSE 
to permit the works specified hereunder, that is to say: 
 
Outline application for the erection of up to 100 residential units with all matters reserved 
except access (excluding internal estates roads) 
 
Rascals Farm Shipley Road Southwater Horsham 
 
as shown on Plan and Application Number DC/20/0695 submitted to the Council on 08/04/2020. The 
reasons for the Council’s decision to refuse to permit the above works are specified hereunder. 
 
1. The development, due to its location outside of the Built up Area Boundary and on a site not 

allocated for development within the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015), or an 
adopted Neighbourhood Plan, is unacceptable. The provision of up to 100 residential units in 
this location, would conflict with the overarching strategy and hierarchical approach of 
concentrating development to the main settlements, as set out in Policies 2, 3, 4 and 15 of the 
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). The proposed development is not essential to its 
countryside location and does not support the needs of agriculture or forestry. As such, the 
proposed development would be contrary to Policies 26 and 27 of the Horsham District Planning 
Framework (2015). 

 
2. The proposed development, by reason of the size and scale of its outward extension of the 

settlement edge of Southwater outside of the continuity of existing buildings, would have an 
urbanising influence in the countryside beyond Southwater resulting in harm to the countryside 
character of the area contrary to policies 25, 26, and 27 of the Horsham District Planning 
Framework (2015). 

 
3. Policy 16 requires 35% affordable housing provision on developments of this size. Policy 39 

requires new development to meet additional infrastructure requirements arising from the new 
development. Both the provision of affordable housing and contributions to infrastructure and 
off-site improvements including sustainable transport commitments, PRoW upgrades, and air 
quality mitigation measures must be secured by way of a Legal Agreement. No completed 

Page 77

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 3



Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex RH12 1RL 

Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded) www.horsham.gov.uk Chief Executive: Glen Chipp 

Agreement is in place and therefore there is no means by which to secure these Policy 
requirements. As such, the proposal is contrary to Policies 16 and 39 of the Horsham District 
Planning Framework (2015). 

 

Schedule of plans/documents: 

Plan Type Description Drawing Number Received Date 
 

Supporting Docs 443940-01(01) Air Quality Assessment 
Rascals Farm, Shipley Road by 
Catesby Estates Ltd dated 10th June 
2020 

  19.06.2020 

 

Supporting Docs Southwater Committed Flows drawings 
C82946-F-011 to F-022 inclusive 

  09.06.2020 

 

Supporting Docs 21007-04a Road Safety Audit 
Response Report (RSA1) by david 
tucker associates dated 2nd June 

  04.06.2020 

 

Supporting Docs ECOLOGY CONSULTATION 
RESPONSE AND POSITION 
STATEMENT - 1ST JUNE 2020 by 
ACD Environmental 

  03.06.2020 

 

Supporting Docs DN/JA/21007-03a Technical Note 13th 
May 2020 by david tucker associates  
Land Off Shipley Road, Southwater 

  21.05.2020 

 

Supporting Docs 19-368 Flood Risk Assessment and 
Drainage Strategy - addendum No. 2 
by Obyssey Date May 2020 

  15.05.2020 

 

Supporting Docs 19-368 Flood Risk Assessment and 
Drainage Strategy - addendum No. 1 
by Odyssey Date May 2020 

  15.05.2020 

 

Supporting Docs The Town and County Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017 Screening Matrix 31 
March 2020 by Neame Sutton 

  14.04.2020 

 

Supporting Docs Request for EIA screening opinion by 
Neame Sutton 

  14.04.2020 

 

Supporting Docs P9249 Phase I Site Appraisal for 
Catesby Estate PLC by GRM 
Development Solutions date: February, 
2020 

  08.04.2020 

 

Supporting Docs CATE22471 ECOLOGICAL IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT (EcIA) FINAL 19.02.20 
by ACD Environmental 

  06.04.2020 

 

Supporting Docs STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY 
INVOLVEMENT March 2020 by 
Catesby Estates plc 

  06.04.2020 

 

Supporting Docs PLANNING SUPPORTING 
STATEMENT March 2020 by Neame 
Sutton and Catesby Estates plc 

  06.04.2020 

 

Supporting Docs CATE22471lvia LANDSCAPE AND 
VISUAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
Date: Feb 2020 by ACD Environmental 

  06.04.2020 

 

Page 78

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 3



Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex RH12 1RL 

Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded) www.horsham.gov.uk Chief Executive: Glen Chipp 

Supporting Docs CATE22471-AHA ARCHAEOLOGY 
AND HERITAGE ASSESSMENT Date 
January 2020 by ACD Environmental 

  06.04.2020 

 

Supporting Docs TRANSPORT ASSESSMENT - 
Appendix B Traffic Count Data 

  06.04.2020 

 

Supporting Docs TRANSPORT ASSESSMENT - 
Figures 

  06.04.2020 

 

Supporting Docs DN/JA/RT/21007-02c Transport 
Assessment Land off Shipley Road, 
Southwater 26th February 2020 by 
David Tucker Associates 

  06.04.2020 

 

Supporting Docs 19-368 FLOOD RISK ASSESSMENT 
and Drainage Strategy on Behalf of 
Catesby Estates Land Off Shipley 
Road, Southwater REV A March 2020 
by Odyssey 

  06.04.2020 

 

Plans Proposed site access arrangement 
vehicles tracking (refuse vehicle) 

21007-03-01 REV B 08.04.2020 

 

Supporting Docs Mineral Resource Assessment - 
Appendix 3 West Sussex Map 

  01.07.2020 

 

Supporting Docs Minerals Resource Assessment 
Appendix 2 BGS Rascals Farm 

  01.07.2020 

 

Supporting Docs Mineral Resource Assessment 
Appendix 1 

  01.07.2020 

 

Supporting Docs Mineral Resource Assessment 01 July 
2020 by Neame Sutton 

  01.07.2020 

 

Supporting Docs Agent email exchanges for the file   26.06.2020 
 

Supporting Docs FLAC Instruction ref. SC39-1039 
RESPONSE TO LANDSCAPE 
COMMENTS 

  19.06.2020 

 

Supporting Docs SC39-1039 PLANNING SUBMISSION 
(ARBORICULTURE) TREE SURVEY 
TO BS5837;2012 - PROPOSED TREE 
RETENTION AND REMOVAL - 
OUTLINE TREE PROTECTION PLAN 
Issued June 2020 by FLAC 

  19.06.2020 

 

Supporting Docs ECOLOGY STATEMENT - 18th June 
2020 by ACD Environmental 

  19.06.2020 

 

Supporting Docs PLANNING RESPONSE NOTE 
DEALING WITH LANDSCAPE 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE 19 
June 2020 by Neame Sutton 

  19.06.2020 

 

Supporting Docs 19-368 FLOOD RISK ASSESSMENT 
AND DRAINAGE STRATEGY - 
ADDENDUM NO 3 June 2020 by 
Obyssey 

  19.06.2020 

 

Plans Proposed Site Access Arrangement 21007-03-3 REV B 08.04.2020 
 

Plans Existing 30/40 mph SPEED LIMIT 
change 

21007-04  08.04.2020 

 

Plans Proposed 30/60 mph SPEED LIMIT 
Change 

21007-04-1  08.04.2020 

 

Page 79

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 3



Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex RH12 1RL 

Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded) www.horsham.gov.uk Chief Executive: Glen Chipp

Plans Potential Footway Improvements 21007-05 08.04.2020 

Plans Site Location SLP-03 REV P1 14.04.2020 

Plans Proposed Site Access Arrangement 
Vehicle Tracking (Internal Section) 

21007-03-2 REV B 08.04.2020 

Plans LANDSCAPE MASTER PLAN CATE22471 10 A 06.04.2020 

Plans Masterplan MP-01 REV 04 19.06.2020 

Plans PARAMETER PLAN Development 
Area 

PAR 01 06.04.2020 

Plans Proposed Site Access - General 
Arrangement 

21007-03-3 REV B 08.04.2020 

Plans Proposed Site Access - Visibility 
Splays 

21007-03-4 REV B 08.04.2020 

Note to Applicant 
The reason for refusal (above) in respect of affordable housing provision and infrastructure 
improvements could be addressed by the completion of a Legal Agreement. If the Applicant is minded 
to appeal the refusal of this application, you are advised to liaise with the Local Planning Authority 
prior to the submission of an appeal with a view to finalising an acceptable Agreement. 

Note to Applicant – Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL): 
Horsham District Council has adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL ) Charging Schedule 
which took effect on 1st October 2017. This development constitutes CIL liable development. 

CIL is a mandatory financial charge on development. In the case of outline applications the CIL 
charge will be calculated at the relevant reserved matters stage. 

To avoid additional financial penalties, the requirements of CIL must be managed before development 
is commenced (including in the event of any successful appeal). 

Payment must be made in accordance with the requirements of the CIL Demand Notice issued. 

Note To Applicant: 
Statement pursuant to Article 35 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively 
in determining this application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including 
planning policies and any representations that may have been received, in order to be able to, where 
possible, grant permission. 

Barbara Childs 
Director of Place 

Date: 07/07/2020 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

Right of Appeals 

Page 80

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 3



Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex RH12 1RL 

Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded) www.horsham.gov.uk Chief Executive: Glen Chipp 

If you are aggrieved by the decision to refuse permission for the proposed development or to grant it 
subject to conditions, then you can appeal to the Secretary of State under Section 78 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
You must appeal within 12 weeks of the date of the decision notice for a householder application or 
‘minor commercial’ (shop front) development, and within 6 months for other types of planning 
applications. There are different timescale – usually 28 days – if an enforcement notice is/has been 
served for the same (or very similar) land and development. Please note, only the applicant 
possesses the right of appeal. 
 
Appeals can be made online at: https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate. If you are unable to access 
the online appeal form, please contact the Planning Inspectorate to obtain a paper copy of the appeal 
form on tel: 0303 444 5000. 
 
The Secretary of State can allow a longer period for giving notice of an appeal but will not normally be 
prepared to use this power unless there are special circumstances which excuse the delay in giving 
notice of appeal. 
 
The Secretary of State need not consider an appeal if it seems to the Secretary of State that the local 
planning authority could not have granted planning permission for the proposed development or could 
not have granted it without the conditions they imposed, having regard to the statutory requirements, 
to the provisions of any development order and to any directions given under a development order. 
 
If you intend to submit an appeal that you would like examined by inquiry then you must notify the 
Local Planning Authority and Planning Inspectorate (inquiryappeals@planninginspectorate.gov.uk) at 
least 10 days before submitting the appeal. Further details are at  
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/casework-dealt-with-by-inquiries. 
 

Page 81

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 3



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting of the Committee
	4 Planning Application: Regulation 3
	PlngRoW_30.03.21_WSCC05520_WoodlandsMeedCollege_App2
	Sheets
	1007 - Site Location Plan


	PlngRoW_30.03.21_WSCC05520_WoodlandsMeedCollege_App3
	Sheets
	1006 - Existing Site Plan


	PlngRoW_30.03.21_WSCC05520_WoodlandsMeedCollege_App4
	PlngRoW_30.03.21_WSCC05520_WoodlandsMeedCollege_App5
	Sheets
	2003 - GA Elevations



	5 Registration of land to become a Town or Village Green under Section 15(2) of the Commons Act 2006
	PlngRoW_30.03.21_RascalsWoodFieldShipley_TVG_App1
	PlngRoW_30.03.21_RascalsWoodFieldShipley_TVG_App2
	PlngRoW_30.03.21_RascalsWoodFieldShipley_TVG_App3


